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Cororate Profile

Accuride Corporation (NYSE: ACW) is one of North America’s
largest and most diversified manufacturers and suppliers of
commercial vehicle components. With products marketed under six
industry brand names, Accuride’s wide variety of components hold
leading market positions.

While competing in the North American commercial vehicle industry,
Accuride provides product to the heavy-, medium-, and light-duty
truck markets and the bus, specialty, and military vehicle markets.

The Company’s primary product lines are standard equipment used

by virtually all North American heavy- and medium-duty original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs).
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i
2006 was a record year for Accuride. Throughout
the year, we completed imitigtives that resulted in
significant top-line growth. with revenue ol S1.4
billion, adjusted EBITDA 0}52 17 million, and net

ineome of $65 million, |
|

In addition, we generated m}cr S100 million of free
cash flow as a result of strong earnings and
etfective cash management., The continued
delevering of our balance lecct provides a
foundation for flexibility asiwe pursue additional
growth inttiatives, l

J
Moving into 2007, we antidipate net sales and
carnings will be down as a Fesult of the forecasted
weakness in our end markels, in particular the
North American heavy- and medium-duty truck
market, However, our focq's is to minimize the
incremental loss related to the decline by managing
costs within our control.

[
Despite the industry int, we expect to gencrate
free cash flow. In 2007, we will continue to focus
on projects that drive bottom line improvement as
we prepare for the furcczlstled upswing in the
industry during 2008 and 2009.
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| Terrence J. Keating
Chairman of the Board
Chiefl Exccutive Ofticer

To Qur Shareholders

At Accuride Corporation, we firmly believe that a strategic direction
focused on providing value-added solutions for customers is vital to
increasing shareholder value.

To create such value, we have and will continue to focus our strategic
initiatives on growth, operational excellence, meeting our financial
performance commitments, and customer satisfaction. The
successful execution of these initiatives will allow us to increase
revenue, earnings, and cash flow.

As a step in transforming Accuride into a solutions provider for our
customers, we acquired Transportation Technologies Industries, Inc.
(“TTI”) in 2005, and by so doing added five leading brand names to
Accuride’s portfolio of product offerings. The acquisition
transformed Accuride into a leading stand-alone supplier of
commercial vehicle components and provided a solid platform for
future growth.

As we entered 2006, our efforts were focused on completing the
integration of the TTI businesses and developing solutions to create
operational excellence at our facilities. By year end, Accuride’s drive
for continual improvement had yielded product quality improvement,
safety and equipment up-time improvement, and overall financial
improvement. The aforementioned, coupled with added strategic
initiatives, resulted in customers awarding additional business to
Accuride.

Furthermore, in order to maintain operational excellence and overall
competitiveness, we firmly believe that capital investment in our
facilities is imperative. However, we are disciplined in the
management of our capital expenditures to ensure that we achieve




favorable returns on our investrments and generate
strong cash flow.

Moreover, to continue upon our road of growth, we
are committed to not only growing organically, but
also growing externally. We will pursue targeted
acquisitions to leverage our current distribution
channels and manufacturing competencies as well as
to explore opportunities for new technologies and
international expansion.

Throughout 2006, we investigated the potential
impacts and opportunities for growth abroad. We
actively explored opportunities in low-cost
countries, both as a sourcing solution and as a
potential joint venture opportunity. In 2007, we will
continue our exploration and investigation and
pursue opportunities that will allow Accuride to best
serve and grow its customer base.

Most importantly, we believe satisfied customers are
the key to Accuride’s success. Ultimately, the
abovementioned strategic value drivers assist in the
creation of customer satisfaction. By improving our
product and service offerings and our facility
performance, we are able to maintain cost
competitiveness within the industry, while reducing
cost structure, and ultimately increasing sharcholder
value,

Going forward, we plan to increase our focus on
creating new solutions for our customers. Industry
conditions such as engine emissions mandates,
increased fuel costs, and decreased driver retention

Operational
Excellence
Customer

Satisfaction

Financial
Performance

Value-added

Solutions

are all presenting challenges to the OEMs. We
believe that by tailoring our relationships with
OEMs to be not just a parts supplier but a solutions
provider, all stakeholders will realize increased
value.

Accuride is committed to “Driving Solutions For
The Road Ahead.” Our going forward initiatives
will be evaluated against and measured to our
fundamental strategic drivers. These fundamentals
have allowed Accuride to achieve a long history of
success and will be the criterion to which we
evaluate and measure our future performance.

Despite industry conditions, we see 2007 as a year
of opportunity for Accuride to continue the
implementation of our efficiency initiatives, to
further explore increasing our global footprint, to
become a solutions provider for our customers, and
to best prepare our operations and overall business
for the expected upswing in 2008 and 2009.

/

Terrence J. Keating
Chairman of the Board
Chief Executive Officer

Enhanced Sha:lreholder
Valuer




With plants
performing at
world class
quality and

efficiency
levels, we
continue to
challenge
employees to
offer methods
for further
improving
operations.

Operational Excellence

As we moved through 2006, vehicle utilization remained high,
fleet profitability was sound, used truck prices were high, and
OEM capacity was tight. Industry analysts attributed these
favorable 2006 conditions to commercial truck customers
purchasing new trucks prior to the implementation of the
mandated changes in engine emission standards.

Analysts are also predicting that during 2007 the industry will
experience a dip in production to compensate for the builds that
were moved into 2006.

Since we do not see this short dip in the industry to be
comparable to the prolonged downturn in 2001, we are taking a
unique and systematic approach to increasing the operational
excellence of our facilities to best prepare Accuride for the
upswing that we believe will quickly follow. We have dedicated
teams in place to closely monitor the industry and make
recommendations so that we can react accordingly. Where
applicable, we will be pulling 2008 maintenance into 2007.

In addition, the integration, synergy, and continual improvement
imtiatives that we embarked upon at our facilities during 2006
allowed us to meet the demand associated with strong build
levels experienced for the year.

Moreover, consistent with our strategy, through the installation of
robotics, the continual improvement of our processes, and the
development of our supply chain we realized:




+ Significant quality
improvements

« Reduced manufacturing costs

* Reduced outsourcing

* Product and process
rationalization

+ Increased capacity in selective
processes

+ Increased low-cost country
sourcing

Throughout Accuride, we have
created a cuiture that does not
accept the current performance as
the “best we can do.” With plants
performing at world class quality
and efficiency levels, our
executive management staff
continues to challenge the facility
leaders and employees to offer
methods for further improving
operations.

Business Unit 3po hg

“At Qunite, we increased our
hub assembly capacity by
adding two new assembly
lines. By doing so, we have
realized improved quality and
were able to successfully
meet the increased industry
demands during 2006.”

Bob Nida, Senior Vice
President / Gunite and
Brillion.

“During 2006, Fabco
experienced a dramatic
increase in revenue. This
growth was enabled by
product demand linked to new
business applications.” A/
Sunderland, President /
Fabco Automotive.

“To enhance equipment
reliability, we are investing
approximately $25 million in
our aluminum wheel business.
The investment includes two
new, state-of-the-art hydraulic
presses plus other tactical
improvements to facilities and
equipment. This investment
will afford us increased
efficiency, more reliable
capacity, increased quality,
and industry leading delivery
performance.”

Rick Klein, Vice President
and General Manager /
Accuride Aluminum Wheels.
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AccuSolutions
Is a strategic
initiative
focused on
providing
solutions for
our customers

in the form of
solution centers,
sourcing
solutions,
and

new
technologies.

Customer Satisfaction

To maintain our leadership position within the industry and to
increase value for our stakeholders, we realize we must further
differentiate Accuride from the competition. As a result, Accuride
is not only committed to driving solutions within our facilities but
also developing solutions for our customers.

To do so, Accuride has created AccuSolutions - a strategic
initiative focused on providing solutions for our customers.
AccuSolutions is designed to leverage our current competencies
and provide unique sourcing solutions, solution centers for sub-
assemblies and other just-in-time JITdelivery, and new technologies.

These innovative customer-driven service strategies will
significantly enhance Accuride’s overall offering.

Sourcing Solutions

« Source product, assemblies, and/or kits for OEMs (Accuride or
non-Accuride)

» Utilize low-cost country
(LCC) sources where
advantageous

« Provide new products
to OEMs and
aftermarket

 Provide engineered
designs for improved
productivity




!
“We are very excited|to offer
AccuSolutions as a new service to our
customer base. AccuSolutions is foqused
on furthering our pai%mership with our
customers by solving'key business igsues
surrounding sourcing, factory throughput,

| . »
and new technology requirements.

Steve Holi |
Accuride Corporation,

Senior Viee President / |
Strategy, Growth, and ﬂ'('fmuloji;l'

Assemblies, kitted parls, line-
sequenced, and value-add service

- parts delivered JIT
- i"_:.k_'

Solution Centers

Accuride will establish centers near major OEM

plants with the abihty to:

» Receive sourcing solution parts

+ Perform light assembly, product kitting,
sequencing and JIT delivery

New Technology
« Acquire or license new technologies for the
commercial vehicle market

Ultimately, AccuSolutions affords OEMs the
opportunity to reduce plant space allowing further
optimization of their facility with higher line

I
OEM Assembly Plant

speeds and thus increased capacity. As a result,
OEMs could lower costs associated with
inventory, material handling, and freight. In the
end, through AccuSolutions, OEMs will have the
opportunity to reduce the number of suppliers
needed and gain logistic efficiencies.

Going forward, we will continue to identify other
opportunities that will allow us to add value and
assist our customers to effectively expand
capacity.
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Business Overview

We are one of the largest and most diversified manufacturers and suppliers of commercial vehicle
components in North America. Qur products include commercial vehicle wheels, wheel-end components
and assemblies, truck body and chassis parts, seating assemblies and other commercial vehicle components.
We market our products under some of the most recognized brand names in the industry, including
Accuride, Gunite, Imperial, Bostrom, Fabco and Brillion. We believe that we have number one or number
two market positions in steel wheels, forged aluminum wheels, brake drums, disc wheel hubs, spoke
wheels, metal grills, metal bumpers, crown assemblies, chrome plating and polishing, seating assemblies
and fuel tanks in commercial vehicles. We serve the leading original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs,
and their related aftermarket channels in most major segments of the commercial vehicle market,
including heavy- and medium-duty trucks, commercial trailers, light trucks, buses, as well as specialty and
military vehicles.

Our primary product lines are standard equipment used by virtually all North American heavy- and
medium-duty truck OEMs, creating a significant barrier to entry. We believe that substantially all heavy-
duty truck models manufactured in North America contain one or more Accuride components.

Our diversified customer base includes substantially all of the leading commercial vehicle OEMs, such
as Freightliner Corporation, with its Freightliner, Sterling and Western Star brand trucks, PACCAR, Inc,,
with its Peterbilt and Kenworth brand trucks, International Truck and Engine Corporation, with its
International brand trucks, and Volvo Truck Corporation, or Volvo/Mack, with its Volvo and Mack brand
trucks. Our primary commercial trailer customers include leading commercial trailer OEMs, such as Great
Dane Limited Partnership and Wabash National, Inc. Our major light truck customer is General Motors
Corporation. Qur product portfolio is supported by strong sales, marketing and design engineering
capabilities and is manufactured in 22 strategically located, technologically-advanced facilities across the
United States, Mexico, and Canada.

Qur business consists of seven operating segments that design, manufacture, and distribute
components for trucks, trailers, and other vehicles. These operating segments are aggregated into a single
reportable segment as they have similar economic characteristics, products and production processes, class
of customer and distribution methods. We believe this segmentation is appropriate based upon
management’s operating decisions and performance assessment. Our financial results for the previous
three fiscal years are discussed in the section captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operation” included in this Annual Report.

Product Overview

We believe we design, produce, and market one of the broadest portfolios of commercial vehicle
components in the industry. We classify our products under several categories, which include wheels,
wheel-end components and assemblies, truck body and chassis parts, seating assemblies, and other
commercial vehicle components. The following describes our major product lines and brands.




Wheels (Approximately 48% of our 2006 net sales and 2005 pro forma net sales and 46% of our 2004 pro forma
net sales)

We are the largest North American manufacturer and supplier of wheels for heavy- and medium-duty
trucks and commercial trailers. We offer the broadest product line in the North American heavy- and
medium-duty wheel industry and are the only North American manufacturer and supplier of both steel and
forged aluminum heavy- and medium-duty wheels. We also produce wheels for buses, commercial light
trucks, pick-up trucks, sport utility vehicles and vans. We market our wheels under the Accuride brand. A
description of each of our major products is summarized below.

e Heavy- and medium-duty steel wheels. We offer the broadest product line of steel wheels for the
heavy- and medium-duty truck and commercial trailer markets. The wheels range in diameter from
17.5” to 24.5” and are designed for load ratings ranging from 2,400 to 13,000 Ibs. We also offer a
number of coatings and finishes which we believe provide the customer with increased durability
and exceptional appearance, We are the standard steel wheel supplier to most North American
heavy- and medium-duty truck OEMs and to a number of North American trailer OEMs.

* Heavy- and medium-duty aluminum wheels. We offer a full product line of aluminum wheels for the
heavy- and medium-duty truck and commercial trailer markets. The wheels range in diameter from
19.0” to 24.5” and are designed for load ratings ranging from 7,000 to 13,000 Ibs. Aluminum wheels
are generally lighter in weight, more readily stylized, and approximately 3.5 times as expensive as
steel wheels.

» Light truck steel wheels. We manufacture light truck single and dual steel wheels that range in
diameter from 16” to 20" for customers such as Ford, General Motors, and DaimlerChrysler
Corporation. We are focused on larger diameter wheels designed for select truck platforms used for
carrying heavier loads.

Wheel-End Components and Assemblies (Approximately 21% of our 2006 net sales, 22% of our 2005 pro forma
net sales, and 24% of our 2004 pro forma net sales)

We are the leading North American supplier of wheel-end components and assemblies to the heavy-
and medium-duty truck markets and related aftermarket. We market our wheel-end components and
assemblies under the Gunite brand. We produce four basic wheel-end assemblies: (1) disc wheel hub/brake
drum, (2) spoke wheel/brake drum, (3) spoke wheel/brake rotor and (4) disc wheel hub/brake rotor. We
also manufacture a full line of wheel-end components for the heavy- and medium-duty truck markets, such
as brake drums, disc wheel hubs, spoke wheels, rotors and automatic slack adjusters. The majority of these
components are critical 10 the safe operation of vehicles. A description of each of our major wheel-end
components is summarized below:

¢ Brake Drums. We offer a variety of heavy- and medium-duty brake drums for truck, commercial
trailer, bus, and off-highway applications. A brake drum is a braking device utilized in a “drum
brake” which is typically made of iron and has a machined surface on the inside. When the brake is
applied, air or brake fluid is forced, under pressure, into a wheel cylinder which, in turn, pushes a
brake shoe into contact with the machined surface on the inside of the drum and stops the vehicle.
Qur brake drums are custom-engineered to exact requirements for a broad range of applications,
including logging, mining, and more traditional over-the-road vehicles. To ensure product quality,
we continually work with brake and lining manufacturers to optimize brake drum and brake system
performance. In December 2005 we introduced the Gunite “GOLD” brake drum, which has the
advantages of lighter weight and we believe longer life. Brake drums are our primary aftermarket
product. The aftermarket opportunities in this product line are substantial as brake drums
continually wear with use and eventually need to be replaced, although the timing of such
replacement depends on the severity of use.




o Disc Wheel Hubs. We manufacture a complete line of traditional ferrous disc wheel hubs for heavy-
and medium-duty trucks and commercial trailers. A disc wheel hub is the connecting piece between
the brake system and the axle upon which the wheel and tire are mounted. In addition, we offer a
line of lightweight cast iron hubs that provide users with improved operating efficiency. Our
lightweight hubs utilize advanced metallurgy and unique structural designs to offer both significant
weight savings and lower costs due to fewer maintenance requirements. Qur product line also
includes finely machined hubs for anti-lock braking systems, or ABS, which enhance vehicle safety.
These hubs have been mandated for all new trucks with air brakes since March 1997 and all new
commercial trailers with air brakes since March 1998.

o Spoke Wheels. Due to their greater strength and reduced downtime, we manufacture a full line of
spoke wheels for heavy-and medium-duty trucks and commercial trailers. While disc wheel hubs
have begun to displace spoke wheels, they are still popular for severe-duty applications such as off-
highway vehicles, refuse vehicles, and school buses. Our product line also includes finely machined
wheels for ABS systems, similar to our disc wheel hubs.

e Disc Brake Rotors. We develop and manufacture durable, lightweight disc brake rotors for a variety
of heavy-duty truck applications. A disc rotor is a braking device that is typically made of iron with
highly machined surfaces. Once a disc brake is applied, brake fluid from the master cylinder is
forced into a caliper where it presses against a piston, which then squeezes two brake pads against
the disc rotor and stops the vehicle. Disc brakes are generally viewed as more efficient, although
more expensive, than drum brakes and are often found in the front of a vehicle with drum brakes
often located in the rear. We manufacture ventilated disc brake rotors that significantly improved
heat dissipation as required for applications on Class 7 and 8 vehicles. We offer one of the most
complete lines of heavy-duty and medium-duty disc brake rotors in the industry.

 Automatic Slack Adjusters. Automatic slack adjusters react to, and adjust for, variations in brake
shoe-to-drum clearance and maintain the proper amount of space between the shoe and drum. Our
automatic slack adjusters automatically adjust the brake shoe-to-brake drum clearance, ensuring
that this clearance is always constant at the time of braking. The use of automatic slack adjusters
reduces maintenance costs, improves braking performance and minimizes side-to-pull and stopping
distance. Automatic slack adjusters were mandated for all new trucks in the United States
beginning in 1994 and in Mexico since January 1, 2004.

Truck Body and Chassis Parts (Approximately 14% of our 2006 net sales, 12% of our 2005 pro forma net sales,
and 11% of our 2004 pro forma net sales)

We are a leading supplier of truck body and chassis parts to heavy- and medium-duty truck
manufacturers, including bus manufacturers. We fabricate a broad line of truck body and chassis parts
under the Imperial brand name, including bumpers, battery and toolboxes, crown assemblies, bus
component and chassis assemblies, fuel tanks, roofs, fenders, and crossmembers. We also provide a variety
of value-added services, such as chrome plating and polishing, hood assembly, and the kitting and assembly
of exhaust systems.

We specialize in the fabrication of components requiring a significant amount of tooling or
customization. Due to the intricate nature of these parts, our truck body and chassis parts manufacturing
operations are characterized by low-volume production runs. Additionally, because each truck is uniquely
customized to end user specifications, we have developed flexible production systems that are capable of
accommodating multiple variations for each product design. A description of each of our major truck body
and chassis parts is summarized below:

¢ Bumpers. We manufacture a wide variety of steel and aluminum bumpers, as well as polish and
chrome these products with pre-plate and decorative polishing to meet specific OEM requirements.




* Fuel Tanks. We manufacture and assemble aluminum and steel fuel tanks, fuel tank ends and fuel
tank straps, as well as polish fuel tanks,

* Bus Components and Chassis Assembly. We manufacture stainless steel chassis frames, body parts
and fuel tanks for buses. We have developed a particular competency in the manufacture and
assembly of low-floor bus chassis.

¢ Battery Boxes and Toolboxes. We manufacture, as well as polish, steel and aluminum battery and
toolboxes for our heavy-duty truck OEM customers.

* Front-End Crossmembers. We fabricate and assemble front-end crossmembers for heavy-duty trucks.
A crossmember is a structural component of a chassis. These products are manufactured from
heavy steel and assembled to customer line-set schedules.

o Muffler Assemblies. We fabricate, assemble, chrome-plate and polish muffler assemblies consisting
of large diameter exhaust tubing assembled with a muffler manufactured by a third party.

o Crown Assemblies and Components. We manufacture multiple styles of crown assemblies and
components. A crown assembly is the highly visible front grill and nameplate of the truck. These
products are fabricated from both steel and aluminum and are chrome-plated and polished.

e Other Products. We fabricate a wide variety of assemblies and chrome-plate and polish numerous
other components for truck manufacturers, bus manufacturers, and OEM suppliers. These products
include fenders, exhaust components, sun visors, windshield masts, step assemblies, quarter fender
brackets, underbells, fuel tank supports, hood inner panels, door assemblies, dash panel assemblies,
outrigger assemblies, diesel particulate filter assemblies, and various other components.

Seating Assemblies (Approximately 6% of our 2006 net sales and our 2005 and 2004 pro forma nef sales)

Under the Bostrom brand name, we design, engineer and manufacture air suspension and static
seating assemblies for heavy- and medium-duty trucks, the related aftermarket, and school and transit
buses. All major North American heavy-duty truck manufacturers offer our seats as standard equipment or
as an option.

Seating assemblies are primarily differentiated on comfort, price, and quality, with driver comfort
being especially important given the substantial amount of time that truck drivers spend on the road. Our
seating assemblies typically utilize a “scissor-type” suspension, which we believe offers superior cushioning
for the driver.

In 1999, we introduced a new “Wide Ride” seat concept in response to customer demand for a wider,
more comfortable product, and in 2001 we introduced the “Liberty Series” focused on the aftermarket.
Qur current line of seats is the “T-Series,” which offers a number of different styles based on back height,
weight, number of armrests, color, ability to adjust height and tilt, and suspension system. In addition to
the T-Series, we have also developed a mechanical seat under the Viking name, designed for construction
equipment and rugged applications, as well as a seat designed for short runs on quick deliveries under the
Baja name.

Other Components (Approximately 11% of our 2006 net sales, 12% of our 2005 pro forma net sales, and 13% of
our 2004 pro forma net sales)

We produce other commercial vehicle compaonents, including steerable drive axles and gearboxes as
well as engine and transmission components.

o Military wheels. We produce steel wheels for military applications under the Accuride brand name.
[n addition, we are developing aluminum wheels for future applications to reduce vehicle weight.




o Steerable Drive Axles and Gear Boxes. We believe we are a leading supplier of steerable drive axles,
gearboxes and related parts for heavy- and medium-duty on/off highway trucks and utility vehicles
under the Fabco and Sisu brand names. Our axles and gearboxes are utilized by most major North
American heavy- and medium-duty truck manufacturers and modification centers. We also supply
replacement parts for all of our products to OEMs and, in some cases, directly to end users. Our
quick turnaround of parts minimizes the need for our customers to maintain their own parts
inventory.

o Transmission and Engine-Related Components. We believe we are a leading manufacturer of
transmission and engine-related components to the heavy- and medium-duty truck markets under
the Brillion brand name, including flywheels, transmission and engine-related housings and chassis
brackets.

e Industrial Components. We produce components for a wide variety of applications to the industrial
machinery and construction equipment markets under the Brillion brand name, including flywheels,
pump housings, small engine components, and other industrial components, OQur industrial
components are made to specific customer requirements and, as a result, our product designs are
typically proprietary to our customers.

e Non-Powered Farm Equipment. We also design, manufacture and market a line of farm equipment
and lawn and garden products for the “behind-the-tractor” market, including pulverizers, seeders,
mulchers, deep tillers, grass feeders, and cultivators under the Brillion brand name.

Customers

We market our components to more than 1,000 customers, including most of the major North
American heavy- and medium-duty truck and commercial trailer OEMs, as wel! as to the major
aftermarket suppliers, inctuding OEM dealer networks, wholesale distributors, and aftermarket buying
groups. Our largest customers are Freightliner, PACCAR, International, and Volvo/ Mack, which
combined, accounted for approximately 61% of our net sales in 2006. We have long-term relationships
with our larger customers, many of whom have purchased components from us or our predecessors for
more than 45 years. We garner repeat business through our reputation for quality and position as a
standard supplier for a variety of truck lines. We believe that we will continue to be able to effectively
compete for our customers’ business due to the high quality of our products, the breadth of our product
portfolio, and our continued innovation.

Sales and Marketing

We have an integrated, corporate-wide sales and marketing group. We have dedicated salespeople
who reside near the headquarters of each of the four major truck OEMSs and who spend substantially all of
their professional time coordinating new sales opportunities and developing our relationship with the
OEMs. These sales professionals function as a single point of contact with the OEMs, providing “one-stop
shopping” for all of our products. Each brand has sales and marketing personnel who, together with sales
engineers, have in-depth product knowledge and provide support to the designated OEM salespeople.

We also have fleet sales coverage focused on our wheel-end and seating assembly markets who seek to
develop relationships directly with fleets to create “pull-through” demand for our products. This effort is
intended to help convince the truck OEMs to designate our products as standard equipment and to create
sales by encouraging fleets to specify our products on the trucks that they purchase, even if our product is
not standard equipment. This same group provides aftermarket sales coverage for our various products,
particularly wheels, wheel-ends, and seating assemblies. These salespeople promote and sell our products
to the aftermarket, including OEM dealers, warehouse distributors and aftermarket buying groups. This
group has contributed to our growth in aftermarket sales.




International Sales

We consider sales to customers outside of the United States as international sales. International sales
in 2006 were $204 million, or 14%, of our net sales in 2006. For additional information, see Note 14 to the
“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included herein.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Our common stock began trading publicly on the New York Stock Exchange on April 26, 2005, under
the symbol “ACW.” Prior to that date, there was no public market for cur common stock. As of April 13,
2007, we had 34 stockholders of record. The following table sets forth the high and low sale prices of the
common stock during 2005, 2006 and the first quarter of 2007.

High _ Low
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005

Second Quarter (beginning April 26,2005). . ... ... .. ... . i $11.00 $ 850

Third QUATIET . . . . oottt e e e $15.90 $10.38

Fourth QUarter. .. . e e e $1395 $i11.20
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006

Sy T I o £ $13.36  $10.05

Second QUAITET . . . . it e e e $12.52 § 9.92

Third AT . . e e ettt e e e e e e e e $1260 §$ 9.85

)LL) T T o = R $12.75 $1092
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2007

FIrst QUarter. .. $15.00 $10.96
DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. For the foreseeable future,
we intend to retain any earnings and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock.
In addition, our senior credit facilities and the indenture governing our senior subordinated notes restrict
our ability to pay dividends. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Capital Resources and Liquidity.” Any future determination to pay dividends will
be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be dependent upon then existing conditions,
including our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions,
business prospects and other factors that our Board of Directors considers relevant, Furthermore, as a
holding company, we depend on the cash flow of our subsidiaries.

STOCK OPTION AND PURCHASE PLAN

Effective January 21, 1998, we adopted the 1998 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for key employees
of Accuride Corporation and subsidiaries (the “1998 Plan™). The 1998 Plan permitted the issuance of
Common Stock and the grant of non-qualified stock options to purchase shares of Common Stock. No
further options will be granted under the 1998 Plan. In connection with the initial public offering of
11,000,000 shares of our common stock in 2005, we adopted the Accuride 2005 Incentive Award Plan,
which we refer to as the Incentive Plan, and the Accuride Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP. The
Incentive Plan will terminate on the earlier of ten years after it was approved by our stockholders or when
our Board of Directors terminates the Incentive Plan. Up to 1,633,988 shares of our common stock were
reserved for issuance upon the grant or exercise of Awards under the Incentive Award Plan. Under the
Accuride ESPP, we reserved 653,595 shares as available to issue to all of our eligible employees as
determined by the Board of Directors. The ESPP has quarterly offering periods, however, payroll




deductions for participants are accumulated during the quarterly offering periods. During 2005, shares
were purchased at a price per share that was equal to 85% of the fair market value per share on the first
day of the offering periods or, if lower, 85% of the fair market value per share on the purchase dates.
Effective January 1, 2006, the ESPP was revised so that shares will be purchased at a price per share equal
to 95% of the fair market value per share on the purchase dates. The following table gives information
about equity awards as of December 31, 2006:

Number of securities remaining

Number of securities tobe  Weighted-average available for future issnance
issued upon exercise of exercise price of under equity compensation
outstanding options, outstanding options, plans (excluding securities
Plan category warrants and rights warrants, and rights reflected in column (a))
(a) (b) () .

Equity compensation plans

approved by security holders . . .. 1,925,627 $9.03 556,265
Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders . . .. — $ — —
PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph shows the total stockholder return of an investment of $100 in cash on April 26,
2005, the date public trading commenced in or common stock, for (i) our common stock, (ii) the S&P 500
Index, and (iii) a peer group of companies we call Commercial Vehicle Suppliers. We believe that a peer
group of representative independent commercial vehicle component suppliers of approximately
comparable size and products to Accuride Corporation is appropriate for comparing shareowner return.
The Commercial Vehicle Suppliers group consists of ArvinMeritor, Inc., Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc.,
Cummins, Inc., Eaton Corporation, and Stoneridge, Inc. All values assume reinvestment of the full amount
of all dividends and are calculated through December 31, 2006.
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—o— Accuride -@—S&P 500 —&— Commerical Vehicle Suppliers

April 26,2005  December 31, 2005  December 31, 2006

Accuride COrporation . ..........oeiineinanrennn. $100.0 $143.3 $125.1
S&PS500Index ... $100.0 $108.4 $123.1
Commercial Vehicle Suppliers .................. ... $100.0 $118.5 $151.1




Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following financial data is an integral part of, and should be read in conjunction with the
“Consolidated Financial Statements” and notes thereto. Information concerning significant trends in the
financial condition and results of operations is contained in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Selected Historical Operations Data (In thousands, except per share data)

Operating Data:
Netsales........... ... ... ..ociiiats
Gross profit(a)
Operating expenses(b)
Income from operations
Operating income margin(c)
Interest income (expense), net(d)
Equity in earnings of affiliates(e)
Other income {(expense), net(f)
Income tax (expense) benefit..........
Net income (loss)

Other Data:
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities . ...............
Investing activities
Financing activities
EBITDA(g). ..o
Unusual items (increasing) decreasing
EBITDA(h)
Depreciation, impairment, and
amaortization(i)
Capital expenditures

Balance Sheet Data (end of period):
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital(j)
Totalassets .. .......ovviinrniinann

2006(1) 2005(1) 2004 2003 2002
$1,408,155 $1,229,311 $494008 $364258 $345549
196,897 201,136 102,657 62457 57,794
53,458 51,601 25550 23918 24014
143,439 149,535 77,107 38539 33,780
10.2% 122%  156% 10.6% 9.8%
(50,910)  (71,117)  (36,845) (49.877)  (42,017)
621 455 646 485 182
602 563 108 825 1,430
(28,619)  (28,209)  (19,526) 1076 (5,227)
65,133 51,229 21,490 (8952) (11,852)
151,013 91,915 58329 8,964 15,307
(40,795)  (47,606) (27,272) (20,672)  (19.766)
(48429)  (67,737)  (1,906) 13,134  (1,983)
211,691 196,107 106299 69,653 63,605
5,445 2,045 (427) 2,061 3,421
67,029 45552 28438 29,804 28213
42,189 39958 26421 20,261 19,316
$ 110204 $ 48415 § 71,843 § 42,692 § 41,266
101,137 106,256 32,944 34403 20,643
1,233,187 1,220,354 563,297 511,395 505,197
642,725 697,725 488,680 490,475 474,155
263,582 175,743 (45,781}  (66,765)  (53,945)
$ 190 $ 174 $ 147 $ (061) $ (0.81)
1.88 1.70 1.41 (0.61) (0.81)
34,280 29,500 14,657 14,655 14,654
34,668 30075 15224 14,655 14,654

(1) The consolidated information provided for 2005 and after includes the acquisition of TTI on

January 31, 2005.

!




(a)

(b)

(c)
()

(e)

®

Gross profit for 2002 reflects $0.9 million of costs related to a reduction in employee workforce,
$0.4 million of costs related to non-cash pension curtailment expenses associated with the
resolved labor dispute in the Henderson, Kentucky facility, ptus $1.1 million of costs related to
the consolidation of light wheel production. Gross profit for 2003 reflects $2.2 million for costs
associated with the fire damage and resulting business interruption sustained at our facility in
Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio in August 2003, $0.4 million for strike contingency costs associated with the
renewal of our labor contract at our facility in Erie, Pennsylvania, and $0.3 million for pension
related costs at our facility in London, Ontario. Gross profit for 2004 reflects $0.5 million for
costs associated with the fire damage and resulting business interruption sustained at out facility
in Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio in August 2003, $1.2 million for costs associated with roof damage and
resulting business interruption sustained at our facility in Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio, offset by

$2.0 million of insurance proceeds received in the fourth quarter of 2004 related to the business
interruption portion of our 2003 fire claim. Gross profit for 2005 reflects $0.7 million of pension
curtailment costs associated with our facility in Rockford, llinois. Gross profit for 2006 was
impacted by a $10.4 million increase in revenue from a resolution of a commercial dispute with a
customer, accelerated depreciation expense of certain light wheel assets in our London, Ontario,
and Monterrey, Mexico, facilities of $16.3 million, a loss of $1.4 million from a sale of property in
Columbia, Tennessee, an impairment of tooling assets in our Piedmont, Alabama, facility of $2.3
million and a non-cash pension curtailment charge of $2.5 million in our London, Ontario,
facility.

Includes $1.5 million of stock-based compensation expense during the year ended December 31,
2006 due to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment, on January 1, 2006.

Represents operating income as a percentage of sales.

Includes $11.3 million and $20.0 million of refinancing costs and $0.0 million and $4.5 million of
losses on debt extinguishment during the years ended December 31, 2003 and December 31,
2005, respectively.

Includes our income from AQT, In¢., a joint venture in which we owned a 50% interest through
October 31, 2006. On October 31, 2006, Accuride acquired the remaining interest from
Goodyear, making AOT, Inc. a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Consists primarily of realized and unrealized gains and losses related to the change in market
value of our currency, commodity and interest rate derivative instruments.




{g)

(h)

EBITDA is not intended to represent cash flows as defined by generally accepted accounting
principles, or GAAP, and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an
indicator of our operating performance or to cash flows as a measure of liquidity. We have
included information concerning EBITDA because it is a basis upon which we assess our
financial performance and incentive compensation, and certain covenants in our borrowing
arrangements are tied to this measure. In addition, EBITDA is used by certain investors as a
measure of the ability of a company to service or incur indebtedness and because it is a financial
measure commonly used in our industry. EBITDA as presented in this prospectus may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies in our industry. EBITDA
consists of our net income (loss) before interest expense, income tax (expense) benefit,
depreciation and amortization. Set forth below is a reconciliation of our net income (loss) to
EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Net income (loss). ........ $ 65133 % 51,229 $ 21,490 $(8,952) $(11,852)
Income tax expense
(benefit) ............ 28,619 28,209 19,526 (1,076) 5,227
Interest expense, net. . .. 50,910 71,117 36,845 49,877 42,017
Depreciation and
amortization......... 67,029 45,552 28,438 29,804 28,213
EBITDA................ $211,691 $196,107 $106,299 $69,653 § 63,605

Net income (loss) was affected by the unusual items presented pre-tax in the following table:

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
(in thousands)

Restructuring, curtailment and

integration costs(1).............. $3,392 — — — $2334
Business interruption costs(2)....... — $(871) $(319) $2,157 —_
Strike avoidance costs(3) ........... - — — 444 -
Other unusual items(4). . ........... 2,111 1,728 - 285 2,517
Items related to Accuride’s credit

agreement(S)............. ..., (58) (565} (108)  (823) (l1,430)
Inventory adjustment(6)............ — 1,753 — — —
Unusual items (increasing) decreasing

EBITDA....................... $5445 $2,045 $(427) 32,061 § 3,421

1. Restructuring and integration costs for 2002 included $1.2 million of costs related to a
reduction in the employee workforce and $1.1 million of costs related to the consolidation of
light wheel production. Included in 2006 are $3.4 million costs associated with a reduction in
the employee workforce in our London, Ontario, facility.

2. Business interruption costs for 2003 included $2.2 million of costs associated with the fire
damage and resulting business interruption sustained at our facility in Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
in August 2003. Business interruption costs for 2004 included $1.2 million for costs
associated with roof damage and resulting business interruption sustained at Accuride’s
facility in Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio and $0.5 million of additional costs associated with the fire
damage and resulting business interruption sustained at Accuride’s facility in Cuyahoga
Falls, Ohio in August 2003. These costs were offset by insurance proceeds in the amount of
$2.0 million related to our business interruption claim for the 2003 fire.
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3. In 2003, we incurred $0.4 million for strike contingency costs associated with the renewal of
our labor contract at our facility in Erie, Pennsylvania.

4. Other unusual items in 2002 included $0.4 million of costs related to non-cash pension
curtailment expenses associated with a labor dispute at our Henderson, Kentucky facility,
$1.2 million one-time settlement fee paid to our prior owner, Phelps Dodge Corporation, in
connection with a contractual agreement, $0.5 million of aborted business development costs
and $0.4 million of non-recurring professional fees related to a corporate restructuring at
our Mexican subsidiary. Other unusual items in 2003 included $0.3 million for pension-
related costs at our facility in London, Ontario. Other unusual items in 2005 included
$0.8 million for fees associated with our secondary stock offering, $0.3 million inventory
write-down for a business exit and $0.7 million for a pension curtailment charge. Other
unusual items in 2006 included $1.4 million for write-downs and fees related to the sale of
our Columbia, Tennessee, facility, $0.7 million for other non-operating/non-recurring items
at our Erie, Pennsylvania, facility.

5. Items related to our credit agreement refer to amounts utilized in the calculation of financial
covenants in Accuride’s senior debt facility. Items related to our credit agreement in 2002
consisted of foreign currency losses of $1.6 million and other income of $3.1 million. Items
related to our credit agreement in 2003 consisted of foreign currency gains of $0.9 rillion
and other expense of $0.1 million. Items related to our credit agreement in 2004, 2005, and
2006 included currency gains and other income of $0.1 million, $0.6 million, and $0.1 million,
respectively.

6. Cost of sales in 2005 included $1.8 million to reflect the sale of inventory that has been
adjusted to fair market value as part of the TTI acquisition.

During 2006, we recorded $16.3 million of accelerated depreciation of certain light wheel assets
in our facilities in Canada and Mexico as a result of a reduction of the useful lives of thé assets.

Working capital represents current assets less cash and current liabilities, excluding debt.

Basic and diluted earnings per share data are calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the
weighted average basic and diluted shares outstanding.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, or
MD&A, describes matters we consider important to understanding the results of our operations for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, and our capital resources and liquidity as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the “Selected Consolidated Financial
Data” and our Consolidated Financial Statements and the notes thereto, all included elsewhere in this
report. The information set forth in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Many
factors could cause actual results to differ from those contained in the forward-looking statements
including, but not limited to, those discussed in the section captioned “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosure about Market Risk,” included subsequently in this report,

General Overview

We are one of the largest and most diversified manufacturers and suppliers of commercial vehicle
components in North America. Our products include commercial vehicle wheels, wheel-end components
and assemblies, truck body and chassis parts, seating assemblies and other commercial vehicle components
after the acquisition of TTI on January 31, 2005 (see discussion of TTI merger following). We market our
products under some of the most recognized brand names in the industry, including Accuride, Gunite,
Imperial, Bostrom, Fabco, and Brillion. We believe that we have number one or number two market
positions in steel wheels, forged aluminum wheels, brake drums, disc wheel hubs, spoke wheels, metal
grills, metal bumpers, crown assemblies, chrome plating and polishing, seating assemblies, and fuel 1anks in
commercial vehicles. We serve the leading original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, and their related
aftermarket channels in most major segments of the commercial vehicle market, including heavy- and
medium-duty trucks, commercial trailers, light trucks, buses, as well as specialty and military vehicles.

Our primary product lines are standard equipment used by virtually all North American heavy- and
medium-duty truck OEMs, creating a significant barrier to entry. We believe that substantially all heavy-
duty truck models manufactured in North America contain one or more Accuride components.

Our diversified customer base includes substantially all of the leading commercial vehicle OEMs, such
as Freightliner Corporation, with its Freightliner, Sterling and Western Star brand trucks, PACCAR, Inc.,
with its Peterbilt and Kenworth brand trucks, International Truck and Engine Corporation, with its
International brand trucks, and Volvo Truck Corporation, or Volvo/Mack, with its Volvo and Mack brand
trucks. Our primary commercial trailer customers include leading commercial trailer OEMs, such as Great
Dane Limited Partnership and Wabash National, Inc. Our major light truck customer is General Motors
Corporation. Our product portfolio is supported by strong sales, marketing and design engineering
capabilities and is manufactured in 22 strategically located, technologically-advanced facilities across the
United States, Mexico and Canada.

Business Outlook

Following a three-year industry downturn, the heavy- and medium-duty truck and commercial trailer
markets began to show signs of a cyclical recovery at the end of 2003, which continued to strengthen
through 2006. Freight growth, improved fleet profitability, equipment age, equipment utilization, and
economic strength continue to drive order rates for new vehicles not seen in several years. The heavy- and
medium-duty truck and commercial trailer markets and the related aftermarket are the primary drivers of
our sales. These markets are, in turn, directly influenced by conditions in the North American truck
industry generally and by overall economic growth and consumer spending. Current industry forecasts by
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analysts, including America’s Commercial Transportation Publications, or ACT, predict that the North
American truck industry will experience a significant decline in 2007 due to emissions standards changes
that became effective in 2007. Delayed or failed economic recovery could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, or financial condition.

productivity, and at the same time, mitigate the margin pressure from rising material prices. Furthermore,
as commercial vehicle build volumes increase, we are required to increase our level of outsourced
production for some of our products due to production constraints, and such outsourcing typically results
in lower margins.

Additionally, new U.S. federal truck emissions regulations took effect in 2007 and are expected to
result in cleaner operating, yet more costly, trucks. As a result, some of our customers altered their
traditional buying trends, which resulted in higher than normal demand in fate 2006, which we expect will
be followed by a period of reduced demand in 2007.

TTI Merger

On January 31, 2005, pursuant to the terms of an agreement and plan of merger, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Accuride was merged with and into TTI, resulting in TTI becoming a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Accuride, which we refer to as the TTI merger. Upon consummation of the TTI merger, the
stockholders of Accuride prior to consummation of the TTI merger owned 66.88% of the common stock of
the combined company and the former stockholders of TT1 owned 33.12% of the common stock of the
combined company.

In connection with the TTI merger:

e We sold $275 million in aggregate principal amount of our 8 %,% senior subordinated notes due
2015, which we refer to as our new senior subordinated notes in a private placement transaction and
subsequently exchanged such notes with substantially equivalent notes that were registered
pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on May 2, 2005;

e We entered into senior secured credit facilities, consisting of a $550.0 million term loan credit
facility and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of $125.0 million, which is
comprised of a new $95.0 million U.S. revolving credit facility and the continuation of a
$30.0 million Canadian revolving credit facility. Neither revolving credit facility was funded as of
December 31, 2006;

e We discharged all of Accuride’s outstanding 9%,% senior subordinated notes due 2008, including
accrued interest and a redemption premium;

» We discharged all of TTI’s outstanding 12%4% senior subordinated notes due 2010, including

Our operating challenges are to meet these varying levels of production while improving our internal
|

| . . -

| accrued interest and a redemption premium,

e We repaid substantially all existing senior secured indebtedness of Accuride and TT1I, including
accrued interest and redemption premiums; and

* We paid approximately $39.2 million of transaction fees and expenses.

Accuride has rationalized costs by eliminating redundant corporate overhead expenses, and
consolidating purchasing, research and development, information technology and sales and distribution
functions.

We completed the initial public offering of 11 million shares of our common stock on April 26, 2005,
and our common stock now trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ACW.” We used
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the net proceeds of approximately $89.6 million from the IPO and other available cash of $3.4 million 1o
repay a portion of our credit facility.

Dispute Resolution

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we were able to resolve a commercial dispute with Ford Motor
Company. As a result of the resolution, the gain contingency of $15.0 million recorded as a liability during
the third quarter of 2006 was eliminated, the company recognized $10.4 million of revenue in 2006, and
anticipates recognition of an additional $10.6 million of revenue in the first half of 2007. In addition, cash
flow increased by $10.0 million in 2006 and we anticipate an increase of $11.0 million in the second half of
2007, We anticipate that Ford will re-source its Accuride business to another supplier during 2007. In 2006,
total sales to Ford were less than 6% of total revenues. See Note 7 for a discussion of accelerated
depreciation associated with the light wheel assets as a result of the expected reduction in product sales to
Ford.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Fiscal Years 2006 and 2005

The following table sets forth certain income statement information of Accuride for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005:

(In thousands except per share data) Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005 (1)
Netsales. ... $1,408,155 100.0% $1,229,311 100.0%
Grossprofit. ... ... ..o i 196,897 142% 201,136  164%
Operating exXpenses .. ... ...ovueereiriniie ... 53,458 3.83% 51,601 42%
Income from operations . .......................... 143,439 10.4% 149,535  12.2%
Interest (expense), net, ........coo i, (50,910) B6)% (TL117)  (5.8)%
Equity in earnings of affiliates . . .................... 621 0.0% 455 0.0%
Otherincome ......... ... ot iiiiiin, 602 0.1% 565 0.1%
Netincome ........ ... it § 65133 46% $ 51,229 4.2%
Other Data:

Average weighted shares outstanding—basic . ........ 34,280 29,500

Basicincome pershare .............. .. ..ol $ 190 $ 174

Average weighted shares cutstanding—diluted .. ... .. 34668 30,075

Diluted income pershare . .........co.vieeieeian., 3 1.88 § 170

(1) Certain amounts in the 2005 results of operations have been reclassified to conform to the 2006
presentation. Included in these reclassifications are certain costs totaling $15.6 million for 2005 that
have been reclassified from operating expenses to cost of goods sold to conform the acquired TT1
subsidiaries to our accounting policies. These reclassifications do not have any impact on net income
and are immaterial to the 2005 results of operations.

Net Sales. Net sales increased by $178.9 million, or 14.6%, in 2006 to $1,408.2 million, compared to
$1,229.3 million for 2005. The 2005 results include the acquisition of TTI as of January 31, 2005.
Approximately $60 million of the increase in net sales was the result of consolidating the TTI subsidiaries’
results for the full year of 2006, Approximately $81 million of the increase was due to continuing cyclical
recovery in the commercial vehicle industry. In addition to the increase in the sales volume, net sales
increased approximately $38 million due to raw material surcharges and price increases that were
necessitated by the rising costs of raw materials.
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Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased by $4.2 million to $196.9 million for 2006 from $201.1 million
for 2005. This decrease was primarily attributable to accelerated depreciation expense of certain light
wheel assets in our London, Ontario, and Monterrey, Mexico, facilities of $16.3 million, a loss of $1.4
million from a sale of property in Columbia, Tennessee, an impairment of tooling assets in our Piedmont,
Alabama, facility of $2.3 million, and other costs associated with a reduction of workforce in our London,
Ontario, facility of $3.4 million. These decreases were partially offset by a $10.4 million increase in revenue
from a resolution of a commercial dispute with a customer and other increases due to the higher sales
volume mentioned above.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses increased by $1.9 million, or 3.7%, to $53.5 million for
2006 from $51.6 million for 2005. This increase was primarily due to recording $1.5 million of stock-based
compensation expense in 2006 due to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment, on January 1,
2006. Included in 2005 was $0.8 million of expenses related to the secondary stock offerings by selling
shareholders.

Interest Expense. Net interest expense decreased by $20.2 million to $50.9 million for 2006
compared to $71.1 million for 2005. Included in 2005 are $20.0 million of expenses related to the
refinancing of notes and term debt.

Net Income. We had net income of $65.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
net income of $51.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Tax expense increased $0.4 million to
$28.6 million for 2006 from $28.2 million in 2005 due to the increased earnings before taxes. The effective
tax rate for 2006 was 30.5%, which was a reduction from the 2005 effective tax rate of 35.5%. The lower
effective tax rate in 2006 was mainly due to lower effective tax rates incurred in foreign jurisdictions, a
change in expected realization of federal and state net operating losses, and favorable resolutions of
certain tax contingencies.

Comparison of Fiscal Years 2005 and 2004

The following table sets forth certain income statement information of Accuride for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004:

(In thousands except per share data) Fiscal 2005 (1) Fiscal 2004
Netsales .. ...ciine i $1,229,311  100.0% $494,008 100.0%
Grossprofit.........ooiiiiiiii 201,136 164% 102,657 20.8%
Operating eXPenses . . ...vvvvronieenearinanne 51,601 42% 25,550 5.2%
Income from operations................ov.ue. 149,535 122% 77,107 15.6%
Interest (expense}, net .........oviveiieninnns (7,117)  (5.8)% (36,845) (7.5)%
Equity in earnings of affiliates. ................ 455 0.0% 646 0.1%
Otherincome . .. .oovveriini i 565 0.0% 108 0.0%
NELIMCOME - . ittt e iaeaeean s $ 51,229 42% § 21,490 4.4%
Other Data:

Average weighted shares outstanding—basic. . .. 29,500 14,657

Basic income pershare...............ooonenn. $ 1.74 $ 147

Average weighted shares outstanding—diluted .. 30,075 15,224

Diluted income pershare..................... $ 1.70 $ 14

(1) Certain amounts in the 2005 results of operations have been reclassified to conform to the 2006
presentation. Included in these reclassifications are certain costs totaling $15.6 million for 2005 that
have been reclassified from operating expenses to cost of goods sold to conform the acquired TTI
subsidiaries to our accounting policies. These reclassifications do not have any impact on net income
and are immaterial to the 2005 results of operations.
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Net Sales. Net sales increased by $735.3 million, or 148.8%, in 2005 to $1,229.3 million, compared to
$494.0 million for 2004. Approximately $609.3 million of the increase in net sales was the result of the
acquisition of TTI on January 31, 2005. Approximately $53.2 million of the increase was due to continuing
cyclical recovery in the commercial vehicle industry. In addition to the increase in the sales volume, net
sales increased approximately $63.4 million due to raw material surcharges and price increases that were
necessitated by the rising costs of raw materials.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit increased by $98.4 million, or 95.8%, to $201.1 million for 2005 from
$102.7 million for 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to the increase in sales volume due to the
TTI acquisition and improved operating leverage. This increase was partially offset by unfavorable
economics of approximately $67.2 million including steel surcharges and rising aluminum costs and the net
impact of the strengthening Canadian Dollar in the amount of $7.1 million. These unfavorable economics
were partially offset by the price increases discussed above.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses increased by $26.0 million, or 101.6%, to $51.6 million for
2005 from $25.6 million for 2004, This increase was primarily due to the acquisition of TTI. Included in
2005 was $4.9 million of amortization of intangible assets and $0.8 million of expenses related to the
secondary stock offerings by selling shareholders.

Interest Expense. Net interest expense increased to $71.1 million for 2005 compared to $36.8 million
for 2004 primarily as a result of the increased debt required for the acquisition of TTI. Included in 2005 are
$20.0 million of expenses related to the refinancing of notes and term debt.

Net Income. We had net income of $51.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to
net income of $21.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Tax expense increased $8.7 million to
$28.2 million for 2005 from $19.5 million in 2004. The increase in tax expense was primarily the result of
our increased pre-tax income due to the acquisition of TT1. The higher effective tax rate of 47.6% in 2004
over the effective rate in 2005 of 35.5% was mainly due 1o higher effective tax rates incurred in foreign
jurisdictions in 2004.

Pro Forma Results of Operations

Comparison of Fiscal Years 2006 and 2005

The following table sets forth certain income statement information of Accuride for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 as if our acquisition of TTI had occurred at the
beginning of the twelve months ended December 31, 2003:

{In thousands except per share data) Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005 (1)
Netsales . ..o i iaaas $ 1,408,155 100.0% $ 1,283,641 100.0%
Grossprofit ... ...... ... .. . 196,897 14.2% 206,656 16.4%
Operating exXpenses . .. ...t 53,458 3.8% 54,411 4.2%
Income fromoperations .......... ... .. e 143,429 10.4% 152,245 12.2%
Interest {expense), net. . _....... .. ... . . e (50,910) (3.6)% (72,073) (5.8)%
Equity in earnings of affitiates. ... ................... 621 0.0% 455 0.0%
Otherincome. . ...t it 602 0.1% 561 0.1%
Netincome ... ... o i e $ 65,133 4.6% % 52,426 4.2%
Other Data:

Average weighted shares outstanding—basic .. ......... 34,280 30,163
Basicincome pershare .. ... .. ... ... S 1.90 $ 1.74

Average weighted shares outstanding—diluted. . .. ... ... 34,668 3739

Dituted income pershare ......... ... oo e, S 1.88 $ 17

(1) Certain amounts in the 2005 results of operations have been reclassified to conform to the 2006
presentation. Included in these reclassifications are certain costs totaling $17.2 million for 2005 that
have been reclassified from operating expenses to cost of goods sold to conform the acquired TTI
subsidiaries to our accounting potlicies. These reclassifications do not have any impact on net income
and are immaterial to the 2005 results of operations.
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Net Sales. Net sales increased by $124.6 million, or 9.7%, in 2006 to $1,408.2 million, compared to
$1,283.6 million for 2005. Approximately $85 million of the increase was due to continuing cyclical
recovery in the commercial vehicle industry. In addition to the increase in the sales volume, net sales
increased approximately $40 million due to raw material surcharges and price increases that were
necessitated by the rising costs of raw materials.

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased by $9.8 million to $196.9 million for 2006 from $206.7 million
for 2005. This decrease was primarily attributable to accelerated depreciation expense of certain light
wheel assets of $16.3 million, a loss of $1.4 million from a sale of property in Columbia, Tennessee, an
impairment of tooling assets in our Piedmont, Alabama, facility of $2.3 million, and other costs associated
with a reduction of workforce in our London, Ontario, facility of $3.4 million. These expenses were
partially offset by a $10.4 million increase in revenue from a resolution of a commercial dispute with a
customer.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses decreased by $0.9 million to $53.5 million for 2006 from
$54.4 million for 2005. Included in 2006 is $1.5 million of stock-based compensation expense due to the
adoption of SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment, on January 1, 2006. Included in 2005 was $0.8 million of
expenses related to the secondary stock offerings by selling shareholders.

Interest Expense. Net interest expense decreased by $21.2 million to $50.9 million for 2006
compared to $72.1 million for 2005. Included in 2005 are $20.0 million of expenses related to the
refinancing of notes and term debt.

Net Income. We had net income of $65.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
net income of $52.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Tax expense increased $0.2 million to
$28.6 million for 2006 from $28.8 million in 2005 due to the increased earnings before taxes. The effective
tax rate for 2006 was 30.5%, which was a reduction from the 2005 effective tax rate of 35.5%. The lower
effective tax rate in 2006 was mainly due to lower effective tax rates in foreign jurisdictions, a change in
expected realization of federal and state net operating losses, and favorable resolutions of certain tax
contingencies.
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Comparison of Fiscal Years 2005 and 2004

The following pro forma information presents results as if our acquisition of TT1 had occurred at the
beginning of the year ended December 31, 2004:

Fiscai 2005(1) Fiscal 2004(1)
{In thousands except per share data)

Netsales. ..o S 31283641 100.0% $1,082,348  100.0%
Grossprofit. . ... o 206,656  16.4% 163,187  15.1%
Operaling eXPenses . ... o ovv it en it 54,411 42% 63,194 5.8%
Income from aperations ...........cooiii i, 152,245 11.9% 99,593 9.2%
Interest {expense), net. ... i (72,073) (5.5)%  (63,680) (5.9Y%
Equity in earnings of affiates. . ...................... 455 0.0% 646 0.1%
Other income (EXpense) . ........coiieeeiireennan .. 560 0.0% 108 0.0%
Netincome ......... e $ 52426 41% § 14,018 1.3%
Other Data:
Average weighted shares outstanding—basic........... 30,163 22,621
Basic income pershare ......................... ceen. 8 1.73 $ 0.62
Average weighted shares outstanding—diluted ... ... .. 30,739 22,946
Diluted income pershare..................... ... ... $ 1.71 $ 0.61

(1) Certain amounts in the 2005 and 2004 results of operations have been reclassified to conform to the
2006 presentation. Included in these reclassifications are certain costs totaling $17.2 million and
$16.2 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively that have been reclassified from operating expenses to
cost of goods sold to conform the acquired TTI subsidiaries to our accounting policies. These
reclassifications do not have any impact on net income and are immaterial to the 2005 or 2004 resuls
of operations.

Net Sales. Net sales increased by $201.3 million, or 18.6%, in 2005 to $1,283.6 million, compared to
$1,082.3 million for 2004. This increase was a result of the continuing cyctical recovery in the commercial
vehicle industry with Class 5-8 and trailer builds up 14.8% over the prior year and the remainder is largely
attributable to price recovery of rising material costs.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit increased by $43.5 million, or 26.7%, to $206.7 million for 2005 from
$163.2 million for 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to the increase in sales volume.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses decreased by $8.8 million, or 13.9%, to $54.4 million for
2005 from $63.2 million for 2004. Included in 2004 was $2.2 million of expense related to disposition of
property, $3.5 million of severance expense for the former CEQ of TTI, and $2.9 million of aborted IPO
expenses. As a percent of sales, operating expenses have decreased from 5.8% to 4.2%.

Interest Expense. Net interest expense increased to $72.1 million for 2005 compared to $63.7 million
for 2004 primarily as a resuit of the $20.0 million of expenses related to the refinancing that coincided with
the TTI acquisition in January 2005 offsetting the reduction in interest expense as a result of our lower net
debt position.

Net Income. We had net income of $52.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to
net income of $14.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Tax expense increased $5.9 million to
$28.9 million for 2005 from $23.0 million in 2004 due to the increase in income before taxes.

Changes in Financial Condition

Total assets increased from $1,220.4 million at December 31, 2005 to $1,233.2 million at December 31,
2006 for a $12.8 million increase in total assets during the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Net working capital, defined as current assets less cash and current liabilities, decreased $5.2 million
from $106.3 million in December 31, 2005, to $101.1 milion in December 31, 2006.

Significant changes in net working capital from December 31, 2005, were as follows:
¢ A decrease in inventories of $15.2 million due to specific reduction efforts,

¢ A decrease in accounts payable of $7.8 due to the reduction in amounts due related to inventory
and other items,

+ A decrease in income taxes payable of $8.6 million primarily due to a favorable settlement of tax
contingency items,
Capital Resources and Liquidity !

Our primary sources of liquidity during 2006 were cash provided by operating activities and cash
reserves. In addition, we have a $125 million revolving credit facility, as defined and discussed below, all of
which is available as of March 31, 2007. Primary uses of cash were working capital needs, capital
expenditures, and debt service.

Cash Flow Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2006 amounted to $151.0 million compared to net cash
provided by operating activities of $91.9 million for the comparable period in 2005, an increase of
$59.1 million. Net income of $65.1 million for 2006 compared to net income of $51.2 million for the
comparable period of 2005 contributed to this increased cash flow. Depreciation expense was $21.1 million
higher in 2006 than in 2005 primarily due to accelerated depreciation recorded in 2006 (see Note 7). Cash
flows from inventories and supplies were $10.6 million in 2006, which was $26.6 million higher than the
$16.0 million use of cash in 2005 due to timing of inventory levels. Included in the 2005 use of cash from
operations are $13.7 million of cash fees associated with the refinancing of our notes and term debt in
January 2005. ‘

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $40.8 million for the year ended December 31; 2006,
compared to a use of $47.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, a decrease of $6.8 million, which
was primarily driven by the $8.3 million use of cash in 2005 for the acquisition of TTI. Our most significant
cash outlays for investing activities are the purchases of property, plant, and equipment. Our capital
expenditures in 2006 were $42.2 million compared to capital expenditures of $40.0 million in 2005. Cash
generated from operations and existing cash reserves funded these expenditures. Capital expenditures for
2007 are expected to be approximately $40 million to $45 million, which we expect to fund through our
cash from operations or existing cash reserves. We received a $0.5 million and $0.7 million cash
distribution from Trimont Container Investment, LLC, an investment acquired in the TTI merger in 2006
and 2005, respectively. During 2006, we sold our property in Columbia, Tennessee, for net proceeds of
$1.9 million and purchased the remaining interest of AOT from Goodyear for $0.7 million, net of cash
acquired.

Financing Activities

Net cash used by financing activities totaled $48.4 million for 2006 compared to net cash used by
financing activities of $67.7 million for the comparable period in 2005. During 2006, we reduced net debt,
representing total debt less cash and cash equivalents, by $116.8 million. During 2006, we received
proceeds from stock-based compensation activity and related income tax benefits of $6.7 million,
compared to $2.3 million in 2005. During 2005, we had net debt payments of $146.7 million, paid
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$2.9 million of premiums related to debt extinguished, paid $10.0 million of fees related to the refinancing
in January, and received $89.6 million of net proceeds from our IPO in April.

Bank Borrowing

Effective January 31, 2005, we entered into a fourth amended and restated credit agreement in
conjunction with the acquisition of TTI to refinance substantially all of our existing bank facilities, as well
as the senior bank debt and subordinated debt of TTI. Under the refinancing, we repaid in full the
aggregate amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, the New Term B Facility and the
Term C Facility with proceeds from (i) a new term credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of
$550 million that requires annual amortization payments of 19 per year, with the balance payable on
January 31, 2012, and (ii) a revolving facility in an aggregate amount of $125 million (comprised of a
$95 million U.S. revolving credit facility and a $30 million Canadian revolving credit facility) which matures
on January 31, 2010. Neither revolving facility was drawn as of December 31, 2006. The loans under the
term credit facility and the U.S. revolving credit facility are secured by, among other things, a lien on
substantially all of our U.S. properties, assets and domestic subsidiaries and a pledge of 65% of the stock of
our foreign subsidiaries. The loans under the Canadian revolving facility are also secured by substantially
all the properties and assets of Accuride Canada, Inc.

In connection with the refinancing described above, the following indebtedness was repaid, redeemed,
repurchased or otherwise satisfied and discharged in full:

» Indebtedness of TTIL, under its first and second lien credit agreements, each dated as of March 16,
2004:

¢ The 12.5% senior subordinated notes due 2010 issued by TTT pursuant to an indenture, dated as of
May 21, 2004; and

» Our 9.25% senior subordinated notes due 2008 issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of
January 21, 1998, as described below.

Restrictive Debt Covenants. Our credit documents contain numerous financial and operating
covenants that limit the discretion of management with respect to certain business matters. These
covenants place significant restrictions on, among other things, the ability to incur additional debt, to pay
dividends, to create liens, to make certain payments and investments and to sell or otherwise dispose of
assets and merge or consolidate with other entities. Accuride is also required to meet certain financial
ratios and tests including a leverage ratio, an interest coverage ratio, and a fixed charge coverage ratio. A
failure to comply with the obligations contained in the credit documents could result in an event of default,
and possibly the acceleration of the related debt and the acceleration of debt under other instruments
evidencing indebtedness that may contain cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. We were in
compliance with all such covenants at December 31, 2006.

Senior Subordinated Notes. In January 1998 we issued the $200 million Notes pursuant to an
Indenture (the “Indenture™). The Indenture was limited in aggregate principal amount to $300 million, of
which $200 million were issued as Private Notes and subsequently exchanged for Exchange Notes, which
exchange had been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Indenture provided
certain restrictions on the payment of dividends by Accuride. The Indenture was subject to and governed
by the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. The Notes were general unsecured obligations of
Accuride and were subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future Senior Indebtedness (as
defined in the Indenture). The Notes were to mature on February 1, 2008, Interest on the Notes accrues at
the rate of 9.25% per annum and was due and payable semi-annually in arrears on February 1 and
August 1, commencing on August 1, 1998, to holders of record of the Notes on the immediately preceding
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January 15 and July 15. As discussed above, these notes were repaid January 31, 2005, in connection with
the acquisition of TTI.

Effective January 31, 2005, we issued $275 million aggregate principal amount of 8 ¥,% senior
subordinated notes due 2015 in a private placement transaction. Interest on the senior subordinated notes
is payable on February 1 and August 1 of each year, beginning on August 1, 2005. The notes mature on
February 1, 2015 and may be redeemed, at our option, in whole or in part, at any time on or before
February 1, 2010 in cash at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture, plus interest. In addition, on
or before February 1, 2008, we may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of notes issued
under the indenture with the proceeds of certain equity offerings. The notes will be general unsecured
obligations of the Company ranking senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated
indebtedness of the Company. The notes are subordinated to all existing and future senior indebtedness of
the Company including indebtedness incurred under the companies new credit agreement.

In May 2005, we successfully completed an exchange offer as required per the terms of the
registration rights agreement we entered into with the initial purchasers in connection with the issuance of
our senior subordinated notes. Pursuant to an effective exchange offer registration statement filed with the
SEC, holders of our outstanding unregistered 8/%4% senior subordinated notes due 2015 exchanged such
notes for otherwise identical 8% senior subordinated notes due 2015 which have been registered under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. Our off-balance sheet arrangements include the operating leases
and unconditional purchase obligations which are principally take-or-pay obligations related to the
purchase of certain materials, including natural gas, consistent with customary industry practice as well as
letters of credit.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006 and the effect
such obligations and commitments are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods:

Payments due by period
Total Less than 1 year I-3vears 3-5years More than 5 years
(dollars in millions)
Long-termdebt................... $ 6427 $ 00 $ 00 § 00 $642.7
Interest on long-term debt(a)....... 188.9 234 46.8 46.8 71.9
Interest on variable rate debt(b) . ... 137.5 27.0 54.0 54.0 2.5
Capitalleases .................... 02 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0
Operating leases. ................. 24.5 6.0 9.2 51 4.2
Purchase commitments(c) ......... 38.6 29.4 9.2 0.0 0.0
Other long-term liabilities(d). . .. ... 197.7 18.4 37.8 39.1 102.4
Total obligations ............... $1,230.1 $104.4 $156.9  $144.9 $823.9

(a) Consists of interest payments for Accuride’s outstanding 8%% senior subordinated notes due 2015 at
a fixed rate of 8%2%.

(b) Consists of interest payments for our average outstanding balance of our new senior credit facilities at
a variable rate of LIBOR of 5.37% plus the applicable rate. The interest rate for the outstanding
industrial revenue bond was the 2006 average rate of 3.69%.

(c) The unconditional purchase commitments are principally take-or-pay obligations related to the
purchase of certain materials, including natural gas, consistent with customary industry practice.

(d) Consists primarily of post-retirement estimated future benefit payments and estimated pension
contributions. Amounts for 2017 and thereafter are unknown at this time.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis. The preparation of financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses
during the reporting periods.

We continually evaluate our accounting policies and estimates we use to prepare the consolidated
financial statements. In general, management’s estimates are based on historical experience, on
information from third party professionals and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the facts and circumstances. Actual results could differ from those estimates made by
management.

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those where the nature of the estimates or assumptions
is material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly uncertain matters
or the susceptibility of such matters to change, and the impact of the estimates and assumptions on
financial condition or operating performance is material. We believe our critical accounting policies and
estimates, as reviewed and discussed with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, include
accounting for impairment of long-lived assets, goodwill, pensions, and taxes.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets—We evaluate long-lived assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In performing the
review of recoverability, we estimate future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and our
eventual disposition. The estimates of future cash flows, based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections, require management’s subjective judgments. The time periods for estimating future cash
flows is often lengthy, which increases the sensitivity to assumptions made. Depending on the assumptions
and estimates used, the estimated future cash flows projected in the evaluation of long-lived assets can vary
within a wide range of outcomes. We consider the likelihood of possible outcomes in determining the best
estimate of future cash flows.

Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—Since the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142 on Januvary 1, 2002, we no longer amortize goodwill but instead
test annually for impairment as required by SFAS No. 142, If the carrying value of goodwill or other
intangible assets exceeds our fair value, an impairment loss must be recognized. A present value technique
is often the best available technique with which to estimate the fair value of a group of assets. The nse of a
present value technique requires the use of estimates of future cash flows. These cash flow estimates
incorporate assumptions that marketplace participants would use in their estimates of fair value as well as
our own assumptions. These cash flow estimates are based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and
consider all available evidence. However, there is inherent uncertainity in estimates of future cash flows and
termination values. As such, several different terminal values were used in our calculations and the
likelihood of possible outcomes was considered. Indefinite lived intangibles assets (trade names) are not
amortized but are reviewed for impairment at least annually or more frequently if impairment indicators
arise.

Self-Insurance—Management judgment is required to estimate our medical insurance and workers
compensation liabilities since we are self-insured. We evaluate the trends of claims to determine the
appropriate liability and adjust the amount of such liability, if necessary. Although we are self-insured, we
do use insurance policies to cover claims over a pre-determined limit.

Pensions and Other Post-Employment Benefits—We account for our defined benefit pension plans and
other post-employment benefit plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,
SFAS No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, and SFAS No. 158,
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Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, which require that
amounts recognized in financial statements be determined on an actuarial basis. As permitted by SFAS
No. 87, we use a smoothed value of plan assets (which is further described below). SFAS No. 87 requires
that the effects of the performance of the pension plan’s assets and changes in pension liability discount
rates on our computation of pension income (cost) be amortized over future periods. SFAS No. 158
requires an employer to fully recognize the obligations associated with single-employer defined benefit
pension, retiree healthcare, and other postretirement plans in their financial statements.

The most significant element in determining our pension income (cost) in accordance with SFAS
No. 87 is the expected return on plan assets. In 2006, we assumed that the expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets would be 8.39%. The assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a
calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets in a systematic
manner over five years. This produces the expected return on plan assets that is included in pension
income (cost). The difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets is
deferred. The net deferral of past asset gains (losses) affects the calculated value of plan assets and,
ultimately, future pension income (cost).

Over the long term, our pension plan assets have earned approximately 8.0%. The expected return on
plan assets is reviewed annually, and if conditions should warrant, will be revised. If we were to lower this
rate, future pension cost would increase.

At the end of each year, we determine the discount rate to be used to calculate the present value of
plan liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the current interest rate at which the pension liabilities
could be effectively settled at the end of the year. In estimating this rate, we look to rates of return on high-
quality, fixed-income investments that receive one of the two highest ratings given by a recognized ratings
agency. At December 31, 2006, we determined this rate to be 5.42%. Changes in discount rates over the
past three years have not materiaily affected pension income (cost), and the net effect of changes in the
discount rate, as well as the net effect of other changes in actuarial assumptions and experience, have been
deferred, in accordance with SFAS No. 87.

Declines in the financial markets coupled with the decline in interest rates have caused our
accumulated pension obligation to exceed the fair value of the related plan assets. As a result, in 2004 we
recorded an increase to our accrued pension liability and a non-cash charge to equity of approximately
$1.0 million after-tax. ‘

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized consolidated pretax pension cost of
$7.5 million (including a $2.4 million curtailment charge as a result of an event in our London, Ontario,
facility) compared to $2.9 million in 2005. We currently expect that the consolidated pension cost for 2007
will be approximately $4.5 million. We currently expect to contribute $15.1 million to our pension plans
during 2007, however, we may elect to adjust the level of contributions based on a number of factors,
including performance of pension investments, changes in interest rates, and changes in workforce
compensation.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized a consolidated pre-tax post-retirement welfare
benefit cost of $5.9 million compared to $5.4 million in 2005. We currently expect that the consolidated
post-retirement welfare benefit cost for 2007 will be approximately $6.0 million. We expect to pay
$3.4 million during 2007 in post-retirement welfare benefits.

Income Taxes—Management judgment is required in developing our provision for income taxes,
including the determination of deferred tax assets, liabilities and any valuation allowances recorded against
the deferred tax assets. We evaluate quarterly the realizability of our net deferred tax assets by assessing
the valuation allowance and adjusting the amount of such allowance, if necessary. The factors used to
assess the likelihood of realization are our forecast of future taxable income and the availability of tax
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planning strategies that can be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets. Failure to achieve
forecasted taxable income might affect the ultimate realization of the net deferred tax assets. Factors that
may affect our ability to achieve sufficient forecasted taxable income include, but are not limited to, the
following: increased competition, a decline in sales or margins, or !oss of market share.

We operate in multiple jurisdictions and are routinely under audit by federal, state and international
tax authorities. Exposures exist related to various filing positions that may require an exiended period of
time to resolve and may result in income tax adjustments by the taxing authorities. Reserves for these
potential exposures that have been established represent management’s best estimate of the probable
adjustments. On a quarterly basis, management evaluates the reserve amounts in light of any additional
information and adjusts the reserve balances as necessary to reflect the best estimate of the probable
outcomes. We believe that we have established the appropriate reserve for these estimated exposures.
However, actual results may differ from these estimates. The resolution of these matters in a particular
future period could have an impact on our consolidated statement of operations and provision for income
taxes.

Recent Developments

New Accounting Pronouncements—New accounting standards which could impact us include FIN 48,
SFAS No. 157, and SFAS No. 159,

Interpretation No. 48—1In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued
FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncenainty in Income Taxes, to address the
noncomparability in reporting tax assets and liabilities resulting from a lack of specific guidance in SFAS
No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, on the uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s
financial statements. Specifically, FIN 48 prescribes (a) a consistent recognition threshold and (b) a
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected 1o be taken in a tax return, and provides related guidance on derecognition, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 will apply to fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. Management estimates that the adoption of FIN 48 will reduce
retained earnings and increase tax liabilities between approximately $1.0 million and $2.0 million.
Management is also evaluating the impact to goodwill as a result of the adoption of FIN 48, but the impact
has not been determined.

SFAS No. 157—In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, 10
eliminate the diversity in practice that exists due to the different definitions of fair value and the limited
guidance for applying those definitions in GAAP that are dispersed among the many accounting
pronouncements that require fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 will apply to fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007. Management is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 157 on the
consolidated financial statements,

SFAS No. 159—In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, Establishing the Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Liabilities, to permit all entities to choose to elect to measure eligible financial
instruments at fair value. SFAS No. 159 applies to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, with
early adoption permitted for an entity that has also elected to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements. An entity is prohibited from retrospectively applying SFAS No. 159, unless it chooses
early adoption. Management is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 159 on the consolidated
financial statements.

Effects of Inflation

The effects of inflation were not considered material during fiscal years 2006, 2005, or 2004,
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

In the normal course of doing business, we are exposed to the risks associated with changes in foreign
exchange rates, raw material/commodity prices, and interest rates. We use derivative instruments to
manage these exposures. The objectives for holding derivatives are to minimize the risks using the most
effective methods to eliminate or reduce the impacts of these exposures.

Foreign Currency Risk

Certain forecasted transactions, assets, and liabilities are exposed to foreign currency risk. We
monitor our foreign currency exposures to maximize the overall effectiveness of our foreign currency
derivatives. The principal currency of exposure is the Canadian dollar. From time to time we use foreign
currency financial instruments to offset the impact of the variability in exchange rates on our operations,
cash flows, assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2006, we had $20.4 million of open foreign exchange
forward contracts. A hypothetical 10% adverse change in the Canadian exchange rate would not have a
material impact.

Foreign currency derivative contracts provide only limited protection against currency risks. Factors
that could impact the effectiveness of our currency risk management programs include accuracy of sales
estimates, volatility of currency markets and the cost and availability of derivative instruments.

The counterparty to the foreign exchange contracts is a financial institution with an investment grade
credit rating. The use of forward contracts protects our cash flows against unfavorable movements in
exchange rates, to the extent of the amount under contract.

Raw Material/Commodity Price Risk

We rely upon the supply of certain raw materials and commodities in our production processes and we
have entered into firm purchase commitments for steel, aluminum, and natural gas. A 10% adverse change
in pricing (considering 2006 production volume) would be approximately $6.5 million, which would be
reduced through the terms of the sales, supply, and procurement contracts. Additionally, from time to
time, we use commodity price swaps and futures contracts to manage the variability in certain commodity
prices on our operations and cash flows. At December 31, 2006, we had no open commodity price swaps or
futures contracts.

Interest Rate Risk

We use long-term debt as a primary source of capital. The following table presents the principal cash
repayments and related weighted average interest rates by maturity date for our long-term debt at
December 31, 2006. The weighted average interest rates are based on 12 month LIBOR. in effect as of
December 31, 2006:

(Dollars in thousands) 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010  Thereafter Total \Eﬁ:e
Long-term Debt:

Fixed...............cooooiin - —  —  — — $275000 $275,000 $268,125
Average Rate .................. —_ = = = - 8.50% 8.50%
Variable....................... — =  —  —  — $367,725 $367,725 $368,637
AverageRate .................. —_ = = == = 7.35% 7.35%

We have used interest rate swaps to alter interest rate exposure between fixed and variable rates on a
portion of our long-term debt. As of December 31, 2006, interest rate swaps of $250.0 million were
outstanding. Under the terms of the interest rate swaps, we agreed with the counterparty to exchange, at
specified intervals, the difference between 3.55% from March 2005 through March 2006, 4.24% from
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March 2006 through March 2007, and 4.43% from March 2007 through March 2008, and the variable rate
interest amounts calculated by reference to the notional principal amount. The interest rate swaps
commenced in February 2005 and mature in March 2008. A hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest
rates would not have a material impact on our statements of operations.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), the Company’s management evaluated, with the
participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of
the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(¢) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2006. Based upon their evaluation of these
disclosure controls and procedures, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31,
2006 to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported, within the time period
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and
principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. The Company’s
management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of published financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework and criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
assessment, the Company’s management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2006, the Company’s
internal controls over financial reporting were effective based on that framework.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, issued an
audit report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, which is included herein.
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ATTESTATION REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Accuride Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting for Financial Reporting, that Accuride Corporation
and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. OQur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the
supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing
similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide:reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error
ot fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that
the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Frameworlk issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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We have aiso audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the vear ended December 31,
2006 of the Company and our report dated March 6, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, and accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.

/sf DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Indianapolis, Indiana
March 6, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Accuride Corporation
Evansville, Indiana

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Accuride Corporation and
Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management, Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Accuride Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

As discussed in Note | to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the
Company changed its method of accounting for share-based payments as required by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, and effective December 31, 2006, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 6,
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Indianapolis, Indiana
March 6, 2007
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ACCURIDE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2006 2005
(In thousands, except for
per share data)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cashandcashequivalents . ....... ... o it iniii i e $ 110204 $ 48415
Customer receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $2,127 and $1,877 in 2006
and 2005, respectively . . ..o e e 132,482 132,357
Other TeCeIVADIES . ..ot i et it e e e e e 10,183 9,564
VA=Y 1115 ) 3 =1 103,653 118,896
SUPPES . . .ot e 22,124 17,426
Deferred INCOME TAXES ...ttt en et iia e iaa s rantarrearernaeanaenannn 14,451 19,245
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. ... ... .. . ... i 5,143 6,354
T Otal CUTTEML ASSCTS. + . o o e vttt ae st ettt mean s e ca e eamaee s eenacaansonransarnas 398,240 352,257
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT-=NeEt. . .. coi it iie i ie i iar i iananans 300,806 317,972
OTHER ASSETS:
LT a2 1| e 389,513 395,986
Otherintangible assets .. ... ... . 0 i e 135,644 140,954
Investment in afflliates . . ... oot i e e e 350 3,208
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $2,470 and $1,104 in 2006 and
2005, respectively - ... e e e e 8,029 9,395
Pension benefit plan assetandother ......... ... ... o il i 605 382
10010 2 - [ $1,233,187 $ 1,220,354

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
ACCOURIS payable . ... ... e e $ 107,217 § 114,990
Accrued payroll and compensation ... ... .. 28,430 27,092
Accruedinterestpayable. .. ... i 11,406 11,385
Income taxespayable . ... ... . oo 4,135 12,726
Other postretirement benefit plan liability. ........... ... oo 3,424 .=
Accrued and other liabilities. . . ... ... . e e 32,287 31,393
Total current Habilitles . ... ..o i i e e 186,899 197,586
LONG-TERM DEBT . . ..ot e ettt ettt iaa s aaaanes 642,725 697,725
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES . ... e et i iaaaes 39,945 39,800
OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN LIABILITY ............... oo, 81,158 80,562
PENSION BENEFIT PLAN LIABILITY. .. ..ot cia i inannaes 15,096 24,916
OTHER LIABILITIES . ... i it ettt inaa s naesaenn 3,782 4,022
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES . ... ... . i i veen — —
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par valuc; 5,000 shares authorized and unissued. . ............... — —
Common Stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized, 35,554 and 33,986 shares
issued, and 34,850 and 33,910 shares outstanding in 2006 and 2005, respectively ....... 349 - 339
Additional paid-in-capital. ... ... .. e e 255,141 235,768
Treasury stock—76 shares at cost in2006and 2005 ........ ... ... (751) (751)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss). . ... ..o i (23,100) (25,823)
Retained earnings (deficit). ... .. ..o oo i e e e 31,343 (33,790)
Total stockholders’ eqQuUity. . ..o oe it e e 263,582 175,743

0 17 $ 1,233,187  $1,220,354

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

31




GROSS PROFIT.......

ACCURIDE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Selling, general and administrative.........................
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS .. ...t i
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Interest income. ......
Interest expense ......

Loss on extinguishment of debt...................... ... ..

Refinancing costs. .. ..

Equity in earnings of affiliates . ..................... ... ...

Other income—net . . .

INCOME BEFORE INCOMETAXES ......................
INCOME TAX PROVISION . ...t

NETINCOME.........

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic..........

Basic income per share . .

Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted.. .. ... ..

Diluted income per share

...................................

Year ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
{in thousands except per share data}
$1,408,155 $1,229,311 $494,008
1,211,258 1,028,175 391,351
196,897 201,136 102,657
53,458 51,601 25,550
143,439 149,535 77,107
1,976 556 244
(52,886)  (51,686)  (37,089)
— (4,474) —
—  (15513) —
621 455 646
602 565 108
93,752 79,438 41,016
28,619 28,209 19,526
$ 65133 § 51,229 § 2149
34,280 29,500 14,657
$ 190 § 1.74 § 147
34,668 30,075 15,224
3 183 % 170§ 141

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ACCURIDE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars in thousands)

Common Stock Accumulated

Stock and Subscriptions Other Total

Additlonal Receivable  Comprehensive  Retained  Stockholders’
Comprehensive  Paid-in-  Treasury Income Income roings Equity
Income (Loss) _ Capital Stock (Loss) {Loss) {Deficiency) (Deficiency)

BALANCE at January 1,2004 . ... —  §$ 52070 $(735) $(15) $(11,576) $(106,509) $(66,765)
Netincome .................. $ 21,490 - = - — 21,490 21,490
Exercise of stock options. .. .... — 16 — — — — 16
Proceeds from stock subscriptions

receivable. . ................ — - — 15 — — 15
Other comprehensive income:
Change in fair market value of
cash flow hedges (net of tax) 464 — — — 464 — 464
Minimum pension liability
adjustment (net of tax)..... (1,001) — — — (1,001) — (1,001)
Comprehensive income (loss)...  $ 20,953

BALANCE--December 31, 2004. . 52,086 (735) — (12,113)  (85,019) (45,781)
NetinCome .....covveuneeenies $ 51,229 — —_ — — 51,229 51,229
Issuance of common stock—

acquisition of TTT.. ... e — 92,600 — — — — 92,000
Net proceeds from sales of stock — 89,605 —_ — — — 89,605
Exercise of stock options ... .... — 2,416 (16} — — — 2,400
Other comprehensive income:

Change in fair market value of

cash flow hedges (net of tax) (62) — — — (62) — (62)
Minimum pension liability
adjustment (net of tax)..... (13,648) — — — (13,648) —  (13,648)
Comprehensive income ........ $ 37,519 .

BALANCE—December 31, 2005. . 236,107  (751) — (25,823)  (33,790) 175,743
Netincome ........ooovvunenn $ 65,133 — — — — 65,133 65,133
Costs related to sales of stock .. .. — (103} — —_ — — (103)
Exercise of share-based awards. . — 6,812 —_ — — — 6,812
Stock compensation expense. . . . — 1,500 — — — — 1,500
Tax contingency settlement. . . .. — 11,774 — — — — 11,774
Adoption of SFAS No. 158 (net of

17+ 4 O — — —_ — (20,542) —  (20,542)
Other comprehensive income:

Change in fair market value of

cash flow hedges (net of tax) (397) - — — (397) — (397)
Minimum pension liability
adjustment (net of tax). . ... 23,662 —_ = — 23,662 — 23,662
Comprehensive income . ....... $ 88,398 '
BALANCE—December 31, 2006. . $256,090 $(751) $ — $(23,100) $ 31,343 $263,582

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ACCURIDE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities:

Depreciation and impairment ., . .............. il i
Amortization—deferred financing costs. . .. ... ... . o el
Amortization—other intangible assets .. .......... ... ..o o
Loss on extinguishmentofdebt. ............. .. ... ... . oL
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets . ......... ... i,
Deferred iNCOME tAXES . ... .. ..t e v i at e eneeans
Equity in earnings of affiliates. . ........ ... ... oo iiiiiii oLt
Cash distribution from affiliate . . ...................... ... ... ...
Non-cash stock-based compensation ............ ..ot
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisition:
Receivables ... ... e
Inventoriesand supplies. . .. ... . i il e
Prepaid expenses and otherassets ................. ... ... ... ...
Accounts payable ... ... e e e
Accrued and other liabilities . ........... ..o oo il
Net cash provided by operating activities. ..............ooviieen.,
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment . .........................
Capitalized Interest. . ............ it
Acquisitioncosts—TTL .. ... .
Cash distribution from investment—Trimont . ........................
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment ..................
Other investments, net of cashacquired. ................ ... ..o lL,
Net cash used in investing activities ..............c.coii ...
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Paymentson long-termdebt ......... ... .. o il
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt................ ... ..., ....
Increase in revolving creditadvance . .......... . ... .o ool
Decrease inrevolving creditadvance . ........ ... oo
Deferred financing fees ............oo it
Payment of premium on notes extinguished ..........................
Proceeds from issuance of shares . ............... ... ...l
Proceeds from employee stock option and stock purchase plans. . ........
Tax benefit from employee stock option exercises .....................
Proceeds from stock subscriptions receivable ............... .. ... ...
Net cash used in financing activities ... ..........cooveiieiieeann..
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ... ...
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Beginningofyear .................
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—Endofyear.......................

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)
$ 65133 § 51,229 § 21490
61,497 40,358 28,438
1,366 3,237 1,795
5,532 5,194 —
— 4,474 —
1,551 85 (284)
9,672 21,330 10,041
(621) (455) (646)
_ 1,000 —
1,500 — —
1,069 (1,755)  (13,954)
10,637 (15,952)  (15,760)
3,119 (654) (8,861)
(9,997) (7,514) 20,824
555 {8,662) 15,246
151,013 91,915 58,329
(42,189)  (39,958)  (26,421)
— — (851)
— (8,327) —
544 679 —
1,888 — —
(1,038) — —
(40,795) ~ (47.606) (27.272)
(50,000) (971,731)  (1,900)
- 825,000 —
25,000 — -
— (10,006} (37
— (2,928) —_
(103) 89,605 16
4,535 2323 —
2,139 — —
— — 15
(48,429) (67,737) (1,906)
61,789 (23,428) 29,151
48,415 71,843 42,692
$110,204 § 48415 § 71,843

See notes to consolidated financial statements,
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ACCURIDE CORPORATION
For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Consolidation—The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Accuride Corporation (the “Company™) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Accuride
Canada, Inc. (“Accuride Canada”), Accuride Erie L.P. (“Accuride Erie”), Accuride de Mexico, S.A. de
C.V. (“*AdM”), AOT, Inc. (“AOT”), and Transportation Technologies Industries, Inc. (“TTI”). TTT’s
subsidiaries include Bostrom Seating, Inc. (“Bostrom”), Brillion Iron Works, Inc. (“Brillion”), Fabco
Automotive Corporation (“Fabco”), Gunite Corporation (“Gunite”), and Imperial Group, L.P.
(“Imperial”). TTI was acquired on January 31, 2005. Accordingly, 2005 results represent 11 months of
activity (see Note 3). All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Investments in affiliated
companies in which we do not have a controlling interest are accounted for using the equity method.

Business of the Company—We are engaged primarily in the design, manufacture and distribution of
components for trucks, trailers and certain military and construction vehicles. We sell our products
primarily within North America and Latin America to original equipment manufacturers and to the
aftermarket.

Management’s Estimates and Assumptions—The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting peried. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Revenue Recognition—Revenue from product sales is recognized primarily upon shipment whereupoen
title passes and we have no further obligations to the customer. Provisions for discounts and rebates to
customers, and returns and other adjustments are provided for in the same period the related salés are
recorded as a reduction of sales when the related sales are recorded.

Cash and Cash Equivalent—Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less at the time of acquisition. The carrying value of these
investments approximates fair value due to their short maturity.

Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost for substantially all inventories,
except AdM, is determined by the first-in, first-out method (“FIFO”). Inventories at AdM are determined
using average cost. We review inventory on hand and write down excess and obsolete inventory based on
our assessment of future demand and historical experience.

Supplies—Supplies primarily consist of spare parts and consumables used in the manufacturing
process. Supplies are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost for substantially all supplies is determined
by a moving-average method. We perform annual evaluations of supplies and provide an allowance for
obsolete items based on usage activity.

Investment in Affiliate—Included in “Equity in earnings of affiliates” was our 50% interest in the
earnings of AOT. AOT was a joint venture between us and The Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company
{“Goodyear”) formed to provide sequenced wheel and tire assemblies for Navistar International
Transportation Corporation. Our investment in AOT at December 31, 2005 totaled $3,208. On
October 31, 2006, AOT became a wholly-owned subsidiary as a result of our purchase of Goodyear’s
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interest. As of December 31, 2006, the investment on the consolidated balance sheet of $350 represents
the amount contributed to a technology company.

Property, Plant and Equipment—Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are
depreciated using primarily the straight-line method over their expected useful lives which are generally as
follows:

Buildings and improvements. . ........ ... .. .. oiiiiiie e 15-30 years
Factory machinery and equipment.......... ... ..o e, 10 years
Office furniture and fixtures .. ........... .. . i 10 years
Tools,diesandmolds. . ... o 3 years

Deferred Financing Costs—Costs incurred in connection with the Credit Agreement and issuance of
senior subordinated notes (see Note 8) have been deferred and are being amortized over the life of the
related debt using the effective interest method.

Goodwill—Goodwill consists of costs in excess of the net assets acquired in connection with the Phelps
Dodge Corporation (*PDC”) acquisition of us in March 1988, the Accuride Erie acquisition in April 1999,
the AdM acquisition in July 1999, and the TTI acquisition in January 2005. Effective January 1, 2002, we
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Accounting for Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets. Accordingly, we no longer amortize goodwill, but test for impairment at least
annually, This impairment test was performed in the fourth quarter of 2006, and there was no indication of
impairment.

Intangible Assets—SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
intangible Assets, have been applied to the TTI transaction (See Note 3). Accordingly, the tangible and
identifiable intangible assets and liabilities have been adjusted to fair values with the remainder of the
purchase price recorded as goodwill. Prior to the acquisition of TTI in January 2005, there were no
intangible assets. Indefinite lived intangibles assets (trade names) are not amortized but are reviewed for
impairment at least annually or more frequently if impairment indicators arise. This impairment test was
performed in the fourth quarter of 2006, and there was no indication of impairment.

Long-Lived Assets—We evaluate our long-lived assets to be held and used and our identifiable
intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in economic circumstances indicate the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Impairment is determined by comparison of the carrying
amount of the asset to the net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the related asset
group. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are carried at the lower of cost or fair value less the costs of
disposal. During 2006, we recorded a $2.3 million impairment of tooling assets in our Piedmont, Alabama,
facility as a result of a discontinuation of a certain product line.

Pension Plans—We have trusteed, non-contributory pension plans covering substantially all U.S. and
Canadian employees. For certain plans, the benefits are based on career average salary and years of service
and, for other plans, a fixed amount for each year of service. Our funding policy provides that payments to
the pension trusts shall be at least equal to the minimum lega! funding requirements.

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions—We have postretirement health care and life insurance
benefit plans covering substantially all U.S. non-bargained and Canadian employees. We account for these
benefits on an accrual basis and provide for the expected cost of such postretirement benefits accrued
during the years employees render the necessary service. Our funding policy provides that payments to
participants shall be at least equal to our cash basis obligation.
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Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions—We have certain post-employment benefit plans, which
provide severance benefits, covering certain U.S. and Canadian employees. We account for these benefits
on an accrual basis.

Income Taxes—Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based on differences between financial
statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted income tax rates. Deferred income
tax expense or benefit is based on the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities from period to period,
subject to an ongoing assessment of realization of deferred tax assets. Management judgment is required in
developing our provision for income taxes, including the determination of deferred tax assets, liabilities
and any valuation allowance recorded against the deferred tax assets, We evaluate quarterly the
realizability of our net deferred tax assets by assessing the valuation allowance and adjusting the amount of
such allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are our forecast of
taxable income and the availability of tax planning strategies that can be implemented to realize the net
deferred tax assets. Although realization of our net deferred tax assets is not certain, we have concluded
that it will more likely than not realize the deferred tax assets, excluding certain state net operating losses
for which we have provided a valuation allowance.

Research and Development Costs—Expenditures relating to the development of new products and
processes, including significant improvements and refinements to existing products, are expensed as
incurred. The amounts expensed inthe years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 totaled $7,976,
$7,223 and $6,185, respectively.

Foreign Currency-—The assets and liabilities of Accuride Canada and AdM that are receivable or
payable in cash are converted at current exchange rates, and inventories and other non-monetary assets
and liabilities are converted at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are converted at average rates in
effect for the period. The functional currencies of Accuride Canada and AdM have been determined to be
the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, gains and losses resulting from conversion of such amounts, as well as gains
and losses on foreign currency transactions, are included in operating results as “Other incomé (expense),
net.” We had aggregate foreign currency gains (losses) of $58, $565 and $1,436 for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2003, and 2004, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk—Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, customer receivables, and
derivative financial instruments. We place our cash and cash equivalents and execute derivatives with high
quality financial institutions. Generally, we do not require collateral or other security to support customer
receivables.

Derivative Financial Instruments—We use derivative instruments to manage exposure to foreign
currency, commodity prices, and interest rate risks. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes. The derivative instruments used by us include interest rate and foreign
exchange instruments. All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at their estimated
fair value. See Note 15 for the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of these instruments.

Interest Rate Instruments—We use interest rate swap agreements as a means of fixing the interest rate
on portions of our floating-rate debt. As of December 31, 2006, interest rate swaps of $250.0 million were
outstanding. The interest rate swaps are not designated as hedges for financial reporting purposes and are
carried in the financial statements at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses reflected in current period
earnings as a component of interest expense. The settlement amounts from the swap agreements were
reported in the financial statements as a component of interest expense.

Foreign Exchange Instruments—We use foreign currency forward contracts and options to limit foreign
exchange risk on anticipated but not yet committed transactions expected to be denominated in Canadian
dollars. As of December 31, 2005, we had foreign exchange instruments with an immaterial value that were
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designated as cash flow hedges. Based on historical experience and analysis performed by us, management

expected that these derivative instruments would be highly effective in offsetting the change in the value of

the anticipated transactions being hedged. As such, unrealized gains or losses were deferred in “Other |
Comprehensive Income (Loss)” with only realized gains or losses reflected in earnings as “Cost of Goods |
Sold.” These instruments expired in the first quarier of 2006,

The notional amount of outstanding forward contracts at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $20,369
and $0, respectively. The foreign currency forward contracts are carried in the financial statements at fair
value, with unrealized gains or losses reflected in current period earnings as other income or expense. The
settlement amounts are also reported in the financial statements as a component of other income or
expense. As of December 31, 2006, there are no derivatives that were designated as hedges for financial
reporting purposes.

The pre-tax realized and unrealized gains (losses) on our derivative financial instruments for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 recognized in our consolidated statements of operations are as
follows:

Foreign Exchange
Interest Rate Instruments Instruments

Realized Unrealized Realized Unrealized
Gain (Loss)  Gain (Loss)  Gain {Lass)  Gain (Loss)
2004 . — — $2,800 —_
2005 ... $ (307)  $2,651 699 —
2006 . 2,536 (184) — (283)

Earnings Per Share—Earnings per share are calculated as net income divided by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by
dividing net income by this weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus commen stock
equivalents outstanding during the year. Employee stock options outstanding to acquire 40,195 shares in
2005 and 97,592 in 2006 were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per common share
because the effect would be anti-dilutive. There were no anti-dilutive options outstanding in 2004,

December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Numerator: .
NEtINCOME . . oottt e iie e eiiai e nians $65,133 S51,229  $21,490
Denominator:; .
Basic weighted average shares outstanding ........ 34,280 29,500 14,657 |
Efiect of dilutive share-based awards ............. 388 575 567
Dilutive weighted average shares outstanding. .. ... 34,668 30,075 15,224 i

Stock Based Compensation—As described in Note 12, we maintain stock-based compensation plans
which allow for the issuance of incentive stock options, or 1SOs, as defined in section 422 of the Internal ,
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, restricied
stock units, stock appreciation rights, or SARs, deferred stock, dividend equivalent rights, performance
awards and stock payments, which we refer to collectively as Awards, to officers, our key employees, and to
members of the Board of Directors. We also maintain an employee stock purchase plan that provides for
the issuance of shares to all of our eligible employees at a discounted price. Effective January 1, 2006, we
adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment. Under the modified prospective method of adoption,
compensation expense related to share-based awards is recognized beginning in 2006, but compensation
expense in 2005 and 2004 related to share-based awards continues to be disclosed on a pro forma basis
only. There was no cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 123(R).
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Accounting Standards Adopted—Accounting standards adopted during 2006 include SFAS No. 151,
SFAS No. 153, SFAS No. 123(R}), SAB No. 108, and SFAS No. 158.

SFAS No. 151—In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs, an amendment of
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. The amendments made by SFAS No. 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-
period charges and requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal
capacity of the production facilities. Accuride adopted SFAS No. 151 on January 1, 2006. There was no
impact on our 2006 consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 153—In December 2004, the FASB issned SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets,
an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions. The amendments made
by SFAS No. 153 are based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured
based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. Further, the amendments eliminate the narrow exception
for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replace it with a broader exception for
exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. Accuride adopted SFAS No. 153
on January 1, 2006. There was no impact on our 2006 consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004)—In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based
Payment. SFAS 123(R) is a revision of FASB Statement 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,
and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and our related
implementation guidance. The statement focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an
entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. SFAS No. 123(R) requires a public
entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments
based on the grant-date fair value of the award. That cost is to be recognized using the graded method over
the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. The total
expense recorded in the year ended December 31, 2006 was $1.5 million.

SAB No. 108—In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Quantifying Misstatements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides guidance on
quantifying and evaluating the materiality of unrecorded misstatements requiring the use of both a balance
sheet and an income statement approach when quantifying and evaluating the materiality of a
misstatement. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB
108 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.

SFAS No. 158—In October 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, to require an employer to fully recognize the obligations
associated with single-employer defined benefit pension, retiree healthcare, and other postretirement
plans in their financial statements. Previous standards required an employer to disclose the complete
funded status of its plan only in the notes to the financial statements. Under SFAS No. 158, a defined
benefit postretirement plan sponsor must (a) recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a
plan’s overfunded status or a liability for the plan’s underfunded status, (b) measure the plan’s assets and
its obligations that determine its funded status as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year (with limited
exceptions), and (c) recognize, as a component of other comprehensive income, the changes in the funded
status of the plan that arise during the year but are not recognized as components of net periodic beneﬁt

cost pursuant to SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, or SFAS No. 106, Employers’
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions. Based on the December 31, 2006, measurement
of plan assets and liabilities, the impact of adopting the provisions of SFAS No. 158, before any tax effect,
is to decrease total assets by $32.4 million, decrease total liabilities by $11.8 million, and decrease
accumulated other comprehensive income by $20.5 million, net of tax.

New Accounting Pronouncements—New accounting standards which could impact us includes FIN 48, SFAS
No. 157, and SFAS No. 159.
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Interpretation No. 48—In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, Accounting for Uncentainty in Income
Taxes, to address the noncomparability in reporting tax assets and liabilities resulting from a lack of specific
guidance in SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, on the uncertainty in income taxes recognized in
an enterprise’s financial statements. Specifically, FIN 48 prescribes (a) a consistent recognition threshold
and (b) a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position
taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and provides related guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 will
apply to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. Management estimates that FIN 48 will reduce
our retained earnings and increase tax liabilities between approximately $1.0 million and $2.0 million.
Management is also evaluating the impact to goodwill as a result of the adoption of FIN 48, but the impact
has not been determined.

SFAS No. 157—In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, to
eliminate the diversity in practice that exists due to the different definitions of fair value and the limited
guidance for applying those definitions in GAAP that are dispersed among the many accounting
pronouncements that require fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 will apply to fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007. Management is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 157 on the
consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 159—1In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, Establishing the Fair Value Option

for Financial Assets and Liabilities, to permit all entities to choose to elect to measure eligible financial
instruments at fair value. SFAS No. 159 applies to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, with
early adoption permitted for an entity that has also elected to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements. An entity is prohibited from retrospectively applying SFAS No. 159, unless it chooses
early adoption. Management is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 159 on the consolidated
financial statements.

Reclassifications—Certain amounts in the 2005 consolidated statements of operations have been
reclassified to conform to the 2006 presentation. Included in these reclassifications are certain costs
totaling $15.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, that have been reclassified from selling,
general and administrative expenses to cost of goods sold to conform the acquired TTT subsidiaries to our
accounting policies. These reclassifications do not have any impact on 2005 or 2004 net income and are
immaterial to the consolidated statements of operations.

Note 2—Recapitalization of Accuride Corporation

We entered into a stock subscription and redemption agreement dated November 17, 1997, (the
“Agreement” or “Redemption”), with PDC and Hubcap Acquisition L.L.C. (“Hubcap Acquisition™), a
Delaware limited liability company formed at the direction of KKR 1996 Fund L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership affiliated with Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co., L.P. (“KKR").

Pursuant to the Agreement, effective January 21, 1998, Hubcap Acquisition made an equity
investment in us of $108,000 in exchange for 90% of our Common Stock after the Recapitalization, as
described herein. We used the proceeds of this investment, along with approximately $360,000 of debt
borrowings to redeemn $468,000 of Common Stock (the “Recapitalization™).

Subsequent to the Recapitalization, effective September 30, 1998, PDC sold its remaining interest in
us to an unrelated third party.
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Concurrent with the Agreement, we recorded an $18.5 million deferred tax asset related to the
increase in the tax basis of assets. During 2002, we determined that an additional $69.7 million in tax basis
should be recognized and recorded an $11.7 million increase in deferred tax assets and reduced deferred
tax liabilities by $15.4 million. The amount recorded, totaling $27.1 million, was recognized in additional
paid-in-capital as an adjustment to the recapitalization. During 2006, we determined that an additional
$30.3 million in tax basis of assets should be recognized based on the settlement between the taxing
authority and the former shareholder. As a result, we recorded a $7.3 million increase in deferred tax
assets and a $4.5 million decrease in tax contingency reserves. The amount recorded, totaling $11.8 million
was recognized in additional paid-in-capital as an adjustment to the recapitalization. ‘

Note 3—Acquisitions

On January 31, 2005, we completed our acquisition of TTL. Accuride Corporation issued 7,964,238
shares of common stock in exchange for the assets of TTI. The transaction was accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and accordingly,
the operating results of TTI have been included with those of the Company subsequent to January 31,
2005. In connection with the merger, we refinanced substantially all our debt (See Note 8).

The TTI merger was valued based on appraisal information and other studies of the net assets
acquired because we considered the fair value of the net assets acquired to be a more reliable measurc of
the fair value of TTI than the fair value of the shares issued to TTI stockholders on January 31, 2005.

The following unaudited pro forma information presents results as if the acquisition had occurred at
the beginning of the respective periods:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004
Proforma net SAlES . ...ttt e et $1,283,641 $1,082,348
Proforma Net INCOME . ..ottt it e ee e et iia e annanenasean 52,426 14,018
Pro forma earnings per share: .
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic......................... 30,163 22,621
Pro forma net income—basic. . ... ..ot e s 1.74 b 0.62
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted ....................... 30,739 22,946
Pro forma net income—diluted. . .......... ... ..o il 3 1.71 $ 0.61

The unaudited pro forma information presented above has been provided for comparative purposes
only and does not purport to reflect the actual results that would have been reported had the TTI
acquisition been consummated at the beginning of each of the periods presented. This pro forma
information does not include interest expense adjustments for the reduction of debt due to the April 2005
sale of common stock. Additionally, such pro forma financial information does not purport to represent
results that may occur in the future.

On October 31, 2006, AOT became a wholly-owned subsidiary as a result of our purchase of
Goodyear’s interest for $688, net of cash acquired. Subsequent to the acquisition date, the results of
operations are included in our consolidated results of operations. Prior to October 31, 2006, this
investment was accounted for under the equity method and results of operations were 1ncluded within
equity earnings of affiliates. We are currently in the process of finalizing the purchase price allocation,
primarily long-term assets.
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Note 4—1Initial Public Offering

On April 26, 2005, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock and Accuride
Corporation’s common stock commenced trading on the New York Stock Exchange. Net proceeds from
the initial public offering in 2005 were $89.6 million. The proceeds were used to repay a portion of the
Term B Loan facility.

Note 5—Inventories

The inventories at December 31, 2006 and 2005, on a FIFO basis except at AdM which values
inventories using an average cost basis, were as follows:

As of December 31,

2006 2005
Rawmaterials. ...... ... ... ... i $ 29,437 § 34213
Work in process. . ... e e 39,796 36,279
Finished manufacturedgoods. .......................... 34,420 48,404
Total ITVENTOrIES . ... .ot i e e $103,653 5118,89%

We review inventory on hand and write down excess and obsolete inventory based on our assessment
of future demand and historical experience.

Note 6—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following presents a summary of goodwill and other intangible assets as of December 31, 2006:

Weighted Average Gross Accumulated Carrying

Useful Lives Amount Amortization Amount
Goodwill ....... ... .. — $389,513 £ — $389,513

Other intangible assets:

Non-compete agreements. ................... 30 2,660 999 1,601
Trade names. ...t — 38,080 — 38,080
Technology .......... ... oo, 14.7 33,540 4,395 29,145
Customer relationships.................. e 29.6 71,500 4,682 66,818

$145,720 $10,076 $135,644

The following presents a summary of goodwill and other intangible assets as of December 31, 2005:

Weighted Average Gross Accumulated Carrying
Useful Lives Amount Amortization Amount
Goodwill .......... .. — $395,986 $ — $395,986
Other intangible assets:
Backlog .......c.coiiiiiiii 0.5 $ 650 $ 650
Non-compete agreements. . .................. 3.0 2,379 205 2,174
Trade names . ......ooiiiiiiie i — 38,080 — 38,080
Technology ..ot 14.7 33,540 2,100 31,440
Customer relationships...................... 29.6 71,500 2,240 69,260

$146,149 $5,195 $140,954

Amortization expense for our intangible assets was $5,532, $5,194, and $0 for 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively. We estimate that aggregate amortization expense for the succeeding fiscal year will be
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approximately $5,750 with the following year at $5,300 and the following three years at approximately
$4,735 each year,

The following presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the period ended
December 31, 2006:

Balance at December 31,2005 ... vttt e $395,986
Reduction arising from tax resalution—See Note 11 ................... (6,473)
Balance at December 31,2006 .. ... it e, $389,513

Note 7—Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consist of the following:

2006 2005
Land and land improvements ............ooveveieiiiiiiiainaanans $ 12,572 § 12,484
BUildings . ... oot e 96,875 108,545
Machinery and equipment . ... ... i 556,196 514,626
665,643 635,655
Less accumulated depreciation . ... o o i i 364,837 317,683
Property, plant and equipment—net ..............oiiiaiiiiiennn, $300,806 $317,972

During 2006, we changed our estimated lives for certain light wheel assets related to a customer re-
sourcing decision as described in Note 19. The new depreciation period was selected to correspond with
the estimated date of re-sourcing. Due to the acceleration of depreciation, operating income and net
income was reduced by $16.3 million and $10.2 million, respectively. The basic and diluted earnings per
share was reduced by $0.30 and $0.29, respectively. We anticipate that the remaining net book value of the
assets of $14.6 million will be fully depreciated on or before June 30, 2007. Depreciation expense for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $61,497, $40,358 and $26,219, respectively. During
2006, we sold our Columbia, Tennessee, property for net proceeds of $1.9 million, resulting in a loss of $1.4
million. Also in 2006, we recorded a $2.3 million impairment of tooling assets in our Piedmont, Alabama,
facility as a result of a discontinuation of a certain product line.

Note 8—Debt
Debt at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consists of the following:

2006 2005
Revolving Credit Facility .............oooiiiiiiiiiiints — § 5,000
Term B Facility ........co e $364,625 414,625
Senior subordinated notes . . .. .. ... ot iii i i 275,000 275,000
Industrial Revenue Bond . ..........co ittt 3,100 3,100

642,725 697,725

Lesscurrent Mmaturities. .. ..o in it in i e et e iinaarnas — _ —
1 1o - 1 AP $642,725 $697,725

Bank Borrowing—In connection with the TFI merger, we entered into a Fourth Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement consisting of (1) a new term credit facility (the Term B Loan Facility) in an
aggregate principal amount of $550.0 million that will mature on January 31, 2012, and (2) a revolving
credit facility (the “New Revolver”) in an aggregate principal amount of $125.0 million (comprised of a
new $95.0 million U.S. revolving credit facility and the continuation of a $30.0 million Canadian revolving
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credit facility) that will terminate on January 31, 2010. As of December 31, 2006, $364.6 million was
outstanding under the Term B Loan Facility and $0 was outstanding under the New Revolver. The Term B
Loan Facility requires quarterly amortization payments of $1.4 million that commenced on March 31,
2005, with the balance paid on the maturity date. On March 31, 2005, we prepaid $11.0 million of the
Term B Loan Facility without penalty along with the regularly scheduled payment of $1.4 million. On
April 26, 2005, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock. Net proceeds from the initial
public offering were approximately $89.6 million in 2005. The proceeds from the initial public offering
were used to repay a portion of the Term Loan B facility under our term credit facility. This prepayment
was not subject to a prepayment penalty,

The interest rates per annum applicable to loans under our new senior credit facilities are, at the
option of the Company or Accuride Canada Inc., as applicable, a base rate or Eurodollar rate plus, in each
case, an applicable margin which is subject to adjustment based on our leverage ratio. The base rate is a
fluctuating interest rate equal to the highest of (a) the base rate reported by Citibank, N.A. (or, with
respect to the Canadian revolving credit facility, the reference rate of interest established or quoted by
Citibank Canada for determining interest rates on U.S, dollar denominated commercial oans made by
Citibank Canada in Canada), (b) a reserve adjusted three-week moving average of offering rates for three-
month certificates of deposit plus one-half of one percent (0.5%) and (c) the federal funds effective rate
plus one-half of one percent (0.5%). At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the interest rates under our bank
borrowings were 7.4% and 6.6%, respectively. The obligations under our new senior credit facilities are
guaranteed by all of our domestic subsidiaries. The loans under the credit facilities are secured by, among
other things, a lien on substantially all of our U.S. properties and assets and of our domestic subsidiaries
and a pledge of 65% of the stock of our foreign subsidiaries. The loans under the Canadian revolving
facility are also sccured by substantially all of the properties and assets of Accuride Canada, Inc.

During 2005, we incurred a loss on early extinguishment of debt totaling $4,474. The loss includes cash
fees of $2,928 associated with the note extinguishment and the non-cash write-off of unamortized deferred
financing costs of $1,225 and unamortized bond discount of $320.

Senior Subordinated Notes—In connection with the TTT merger, we issued $275.0 million aggregate
principal amount of 8% senior subordinated notes due 2015 in a private placement transaction. That
transaction resulted in the repayment of our 9.25% senior subordinated notes due 2008 issued pursuant to
an indenture, dated as of January 21, 1998, Interest on the senior subordinated notes is payable on
February 1 and August 1 of each year, beginning on August 1, 2005. The notes mature on February 1, 2015
and may be redeemed, at our option, in whole or in part, at any time on or before February 1,2010 at a
price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus an applicable make-whole premium, and accrued and
unpaid interest and special interest if any, to the date of redemption. On or after February 1, 2010, the
senior subordinated notes are redeemable at certain specified prices. In addition, on or before February 1,
2008, we may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of notes issued under the indenture
with the proceeds of certain equity offerings. The new senior subordinated notes are generai unsecured
obligations (1) subordinated in right of payment to all of our and the guarantors’ existing and future senior
indebtedness, including any borrowings under our new senior credit facilities; (2) equal in right of payment
with any of the Company’s and the guarantors’ existing and future senior subordinated indebtedness;

(3) senior in right of payment to all of the Company’s and the guarantors’ existing and future subordinated
indebtedness and (4) structurally subordinated to all obligations of our subsidiaries that do not guarantee
the outstanding notes. On June 15, 2005, we completed an exchange offer of these senior subordinated
notes for substantially identical notes registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. As of
December 31, 2006, the aggregate principal amount of senior subordinated notes outstanding was

$275.0 million.
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In connection with the refinancing of the bank borrowing and issuance of senior subordinated notes in
2005, we incurred total costs of $15,513. These costs include cash fees of $13,690 associated with these
transactions, and the non-cash write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs of $1,823.

Under the terms of our credit agreement, there are certain restrictive covenants that limit the
payment of cash dividends and establish minimum financial ratios. The indenture governing our serior
subordinated notes restrict our ability to pay dividends. The most significant restriction limits dividends to
50% of our cumulative consolidated net income between January 31, 2005, and the most recently ended
fiscal quarter. In addition, our senior credit facilities prohibit us from prepaying our other indebtedness,
including our senior subordinated notes, while borrowings under our senior credit facilities are
outstanding. We were in compliance with all such covenants at December 31, 2006.

Interest Rate Instruments—As of December 31, 2006, interest rate swaps of $250.0 million were
outstanding. Under the terms of the interest rate swaps, we agreed with the counterparty to exchange, at
specified intervals, the difference between 3.55% from March 20035 through March 2006, 4.24% from
March 2006 through March 2007, and 4.43% from March 2007 through March 2008, and the variable rate
interest amounts calculated by reference to the notional principal amount. The interest rate swaps
commenced in February 2005 and mature in March 2008,

Maturities of long-term debt based on minimum scheduled payments as of December 31, 2006 are as
follows:

1) 5 R U USSP —_
B 113 4 =7 ¥4 (= o P 642,725
1 s 7:1 78 AU GO $642,725

Note 9—Supplemental Cash Flows Disclosure

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements, we consider alt highly liquid
investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Interest paid in
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $51,480, $49,987 and $36,935, respectively.
Income taxes paid in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $10,249, $9,589 and $3,980,
respectively. During 2006, 2005, and 2004, we recorded non-cash pension liability adjustments, net of tax,
of $23,662, ($13,648), and ($1,001), respectively, as a component of Other Comprehensive Loss. We also
recorded a non-cash increase in our pension benefit obligation of $20,542, net of tax, in 2006. We paid
$233 and $179 for capital leases in the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 10—Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

We have funded noncontributory employee defined benefit pension plans that cover substantially all
U.S. and Canadian employees (the “plans”). Employees covered under the U.S. salaried plan are cligible
to participate upon the completion of one year of service and benefits are determined by their cash balance
accounts, which are based on an allocation they earn each year. Employees covered under the Canadian
salaried plan are eligible to participate upon the completion of two years of service and benefits are based
upon career average salary and years of service. Employees covered under the hourly plans are generally
eligible to participate at the time of employment and benefits are generally based on a fixed amountfor
each year of service. U.S. employees are vested in the plans after five years of service; Canadian hourly
employees are vested after two years of service.
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In addition to providing pension benefits, we also have certain unfunded health care and life
insurance programs for U.S. non-bargained and Canadian employees who meet certain eligibility
requirements. These benefits are provided through contracts with insurance companies and health service
providers. The coverage is provided on a non-contributory basis for certain groups of employees and on a
contributory basis for other groups. We pay the majority of these benefits.

As a result of an amendment to the postretirement benefit plan at one of our subsidiary facilities in
2005, we reduced our benefit obligation by $5.3 million. In 2006, an amendment to the pension benefit
plan at our Canadian facility resulted in adding $4.5 million to our benefit obligation.

We use a December 31 measurement date for all of our plans.

Obligations and Funded Status:
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2006 2005 2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation—beginning of year............... $169,590 § 80,306 $ 87,022 $ 28,618
S ETVICE COSt . . .. it et 4,440 3,639 1,381 1,456
INterest cost. . ..o i v e e 9,366 8,130 4,736 4,186
Actuarial losses (gains)............... ... ...l 1,579 14,693 5,681 5,784
Benefitspaid............. oo i 7,541 (6,690) 3,145 (2,974)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes............. — 2,454 — 405
Planamendment .................. ..., 4,512 — — (5,335)
Curtailment.......... ... .. ... . .o oL — - (232) 678
Incurred retiree drug subsidy reimbursements........ — —_ 133 —
Plan participant’s contributions. . . ................., — — 368 337
Acquisition/transfer. .. ................. ... ........ — 67,058 — 53,867
Benefit obligation—end of year. .. ............... ... 178,788 169,590 84,582 87,022
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of assets—beginning of year .............. 138,692 73,944 — —
Actualreturnonplanassets. ....................... 16,381 9,397 — —
Employer contribution ................... ... 16,532 8,452 2,777 2,637
Plan participant’s contribution ..................... —_ - 368 337
Benefitspaid............. ... L. (7,541) (6,690} (3,145) {2,974)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes............. — 2,041 —_ -
Acquisitionftransfer. .......... .. . L, — 51,548 — —
Fair value of assets—end of year ................... 164,064 138,692 — —
Reconciliation of funded status:
Unfunded status.............. ... ... $(14,724) (30,898) B$(84,582) (87,022)
Unrecognized actuarial loss.................cc0inn.. 40,874 12,243
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefity ............ 5,313 (5,780)
Unrecognized net obligation ....................... 258 —
Net amount recognized .. .......................... $ 15,547 $(80,561)
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial T
position:
Prepaid benefitcost........ ... $ 372 — — —
Accrued benefit liability . .................. ... (15,096) $(30,587) $(84,582) $(80,561)
Intangible asset. ...t — 5,651 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss. . ............ 39,319 40,483 579 —
Net amount recognized . ... . ..............._....... § 24595 § 15547 3(84,003) $£(80D,561)
Amounts expected to be recognized from AOCI into the
statements of operations in the following fiscal year:
Amortization of net transition (asset)/obligation. .. ... $ 26 —
Amortization of prior service cost. . ................. 678 $§ (711
Amortization of net (gain)/loss ..................... 1,794 296
Total amortization. . .............................. § 2,498 § (415
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plan was $176,056 and $168,550 at December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the
pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $178,790, $176,056 and
$164,064 respectively, as of December 31, 2006, and $169,590, $168,550 and $138,691, respectively, as of
December 31, 2005.

The impact of adopting SFAS No. 158 as of December 31, 2006, was as foltows:

Before Application After Application

of SFAS No. 158 Adjustments of SFAS No. 158
Pension plan assets. . .......ovieniniinannenieann.n. $ 32,759 $(32,387) § 3In
TOtal @SSEIS + .t i ittt i i e i 1,265,574 (32,387) 1,233,187
Other postretirement benefit plan liabilittes........... 84,003 579 84,582
Pension plan benefit liabilities. ................... .. 16,026 (930} 15,096
Deferred tax liability ..............ccoiiiiiiint, 51,439 (11,494) 39,945
Total liabilities .......... ..o, 081,450 (11,845) 969,605
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax .. (2,558) (20,542) (23,100)
Total shareholder'sequity ...............coviivns, 284,124 (20,542) 263,582
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
For the years ended December 31, {
Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2006 2008 2004 2006 2005 2004

Service cost-benefits earned during the

 {51: 1 (R $ 4440 $ 3639 $2,704 $1381 $1456 §$ 896
Interest cost on projected benefit

obligation. . ........... ... oo 0,366 8,130 4292 4736 4,186 1,464
Expected return on plan assets ......... (12,074) (10,701) (5,762) — — —
Prior service cost and other amortization

(met) ... e 3,337 1,827 1,649 (167)  (262) (44)
Net amount charged to income .. ....... $ 5069 $ 2895 §$ 2883 $5950 $5380 $2316
Curtailment charge ................... 2,413 —_ — 79 — —
Total net amount charged toincome .... § 7482 § 2895 $ 2,883 $6,029 §$5380 $2316

During 2006, we recorded a pre-tax curtailment charge of $2,492 as a result of an event in our
London, Ontario, facility,

Additional Information:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2006 2005 2006 2005

Increase (decrease) in minimum liability included
in other accumulated comprehensive income ..  $(1,164) $20,870 $579 N/A
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Actuarial Assumptions:
Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31 were as follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Average discountrate......................... 555% 542% 580%  5.64%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels ...  3.50%  3.50% 3.50% 3.50%

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31 were as
follows:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

2006 2005 2006 2005
Averagediscountrate......................... 542%  5.83% 5.64%  5.66%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels ...  3.50% 3.00% 3.50% 3.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets. . . ... 8.38% 8.78% N/A N/A

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is determined primarily by looking at past
performance. In addition, management considers the long-term performance characteristics of the asset
mix.

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31 were as follows:

20062005
Health care cost trend rate assumed fornextyear. . ............... 11.00% 11.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline............ 500% 5.16%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trendrate ................ 2012 2011

The health care cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported. A one-
percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects on 2006:

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-

Point Increase  Point Decrease
Effect on total of service and interestcost ............ $12,490 $(10,527)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation ........... $ 1,287 $ (1,165)

Plan Assets:

Our pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2006 and 2005, by asset
category are as follows:

2006 2005
Equity SECUTILIES. . .. ..ottt e e 63% 62%
Dbt SECUIIES . . ..ottt ittt e i N% 34%
L0 11T S _ 6% 4%
Total. . .o e 100%  100%

Our investment objectives are (1) to maintain the purchasing power of the current assets and all
future contributions; (2) to maximize return within reasonable and prudent levels of risk; (3) to maintain
an appropriate asset allocation policy that is compatibie with the actuarial assumptions, while still having
the potential to produce positive real returns; and (4) to control costs of administering the plan and
managing the investments.
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QOur desired investment result is a long-term rate of return on assets that is at least a 5% real rate of
return, or 5% over inflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index for the U.S. plans. The target rate
of return for the plans have been based upon the assumption that future real returns will approximate the
long-term rates of return experienced for each asset class in our investment policy statement. Qur
investment guidelines are based upon an investment horizon of greater than five years, so that interim
fluctuations should be viewed with appropriate perspective. Similarly, the Plan’s strategic asset allocation is
based on this long-term perspective.

We believe that the plan’s risk and liquidity posture are, in large part, a function of asset class mix.
Our investment committee has reviewed the long-term performance characteristics of various asset classes,
focusing on balancing the risks and rewards of market behavior. Based on this and the plan’s time horizon,
risk tolerances, performance expectations and asset class preferences, the following strategic asset
allocation was derived:

Lower Strategic Upper
Limit Allocation Limit

Domestic Large Capitalization Equities:

Value. .. ..o 10% 15% 20%

Growth ... e 10% 15% 20%

Index-Passive .........ooiuviviiinioai i, 15% 20% 25%
Domestic Aggressive Growth Equities:

International Equities. ........ ... 5% 10% 15%

Large-Mid Cap .......coooiiiiii e 5% 10% 15%
Fixed Income:

DOMESHC. . .ottt it e 25% 30% 35%

The allocation of the fund is reviewed periodically. Should any of the strategic allocations extend
beyond the suggested lower or upper limits, a portfolio rebalance may be appropriate.

While we use the same methodologies to manage the Canadian plans, the primary objective is to
achieve a minimum rate of return of Consumer Price Index plus 3 over 4-year moving periods, and to
obtain total fund rates of return that are in the top third over 4-year moving periods when compared to a
representative sample of Canadian pension funds with similar asset mix characteristics. The asset mix for
the Canadian pension fund is targeted as follows:

Minimum  Maximum

Total EQuities. . ... ..ot e 40% 65%
Foreign Equities ........... .. .o it 0% 50%
Bonds and Mortgages. ..........coiiiii i 25% 50%
Short-Term. .. ..ottt 0% 15%

Cash Flows—We expect to contribute approximately $15,058 to our pension plans and $3,424 to our
other postretirement benefit plan in 2007,
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Pension and postretirement benefits (which include expected future service) are expected to be paid
out of the respective plans as follows:

Pension Benefits  Other Benefits

2007 e $ 8435 $ 3,368
2008 . e $ 8,602 $ 3,705
2009 . s $ 9,203 $ 4,086
2000 . $ 9,070 $ 4,404
2000 . $ 9,333 $ 4,698
20022016 (intotal) ... $60,486 $27,383

Other Plans—We also provide a 401(k) savings plan and a profit sharing plan for substantially all U.S.
salaried employees. Select employees may also participate in the Accuride Executive Retirement
Allowance Policy. Expense associated with these plans for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and
2004 totaled $1.1 million, $1.6 million and $4.9 million, respectively.

Note 11—Income Taxes

The income tax provision for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2006 2005 2004
Current;
Federal ... o e $ 5693 % 2092 § 6,013
State. . e e 1,597 2,271 1,526
Foreign ...... .o i 11,657 2,516 1,946
18,947 6,879 9,485
Deferred:
Federal ........ ..., 12,358 16,422 4,258
) 721 < 2,948 1,391 894
Foreign ... (4,131) 4,340 4,889
Valpationallowance . .....................c..n (1,503) (823) —
9672 21,330 10,041

Total. ..o oo $28,619 $28209 $19,526

The foreigh component of pretax earnings before eliminations in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
approximately $27,737, $22,930 and $10,475, respectively.

A reconciliation of the U.S, statutory tax rate to our effective tax rate for the years ended
December 31, is as follows:

2006 2005 2004

NTETRI (00 o iV ) 3 RGP 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State and local income taxes . .................oiiiiil.. 1.7 35 36
Incremental foreign tax (benefit) .................. ... (32) (L5 717
Change in valuationallowance ...............cooooiian. . 02y 1.0y —
Adjustment of prior year income tax accruals .. ............. (14) — —
Other items—Net. .. ... ottt iiaieanes (14) (0.5 13
Effectivetaxrate ... ... ...t 30.5% 35.5% 47.6%
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities comprised the following at December 31:

2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Postretirement and postemployment benefits ............................. $ 31,650 $ 30,856
Accrued liabilities, reservesand other . ... ... .. i 7,244 7,831
Debt transaction and refinancing costs ...... ... ..ot 7,263 7,606
N7t 0 = S 3,382 2,685
Accrued compensation and benefits. ... ... o Lo 6,020 6,698
Worker's coOmpensation .. .. ... ... i it 2,975 3,116
S LALE ITICOMIE TaAXECS « o v vt v v vt e et et et e e e et an s e et et na e eaeeaneaneaeanns 95 2,227
B =7« 1 -3 120 2,966
Losscarryforwards. . ... ..o 7,851 23,914
Valuation allowarnce . ... i i e e {6,039) (7,541)
Total deferred tax @586, ... v ittt et i i i et aie e 60,561 80,358
Deferred tax liabilities:
Assetbasis and depreciation . ............ i i 18,910 33,048
Unrealized foreign exchange gain. ... iiii i 1,742 1,930
PEnSION COSIS. . . .. it it i i e e et 1,463 420
Intangible assets. . ... ..ot 62,600 61,872
0] 1573 o 1,340 3,643
Total deferred tax liabilities. .. ....... .. . i i i e e 86,055 100,913
Net deferred tax asset (liability) ......... .. ..o i (25,494)  (20,555)
Current deferred tax @858E .. .ottt e e e 14,451 19,245
Long-term deferred income tax asset (liability)}—net ......................... $(39,945) $(39,800)

Our net operating losses, available in various tax jurisdictions at December 31, 2006, will expire
through 2024. In the current year, we have recorded deferred tax assets for additional foreign and state tax
credits incurred through 2006, which will expire through 2015. No net operating loss carryforwards or
foreign tax credits will expire in 2007. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon taxable income
within the carryforward periods available under the applicable tax laws. Although realization of deferred
tax assets in excess of deferred tax liabilities is not certain, management has concluded that it is more likely
than not we will realize the full benefit of deferred tax assets, except for valuation allowances related to
certain state loss and state tax credit carryforwards.

We operate in multiple jurisdictions and are routinely under audit by Federal, state and international
tax authorities. Exposures exist related to various filing positions that may require an extended period of
time to resolve and may result in income tax adjustments by the taxing authorities. Reserves for these
potential exposures that have been established represent management’s best estimate of the probable
adjustments. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the reserve amounts in light of any additional information
and adjust the reserve balances as necessary to reflect the best estimate of the probable outcomes. We
believe that we have established the appropriate reserve for these estimated exposures. However, actual
results may differ from these estimates. The resolution of these matters in a particular future period could
have an impact on our consolidated statement of operations and provision for income taxes. Included in
income taxes payable as of December 31, 2006, and 2005, are $6.1 million and $19.6 million, respectively,
of reserves related to federal, state and international tax matters.
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The decrease in the reserves related to federal, state, and international tax matters were due to the
settlement of various items. During the third quarter of 2006, management determined that an additional
$30.3 million in tax basis of assets involved in the 1998 recapitalization should be recognized based on the
settlement between the taxing authority and the former shareholder. As a result, we recorded a $7.3
million increase in deferred tax assets and a $4.5 million decrease in the tax contingency reserves, The
amount recorded, totaling $11.8 million, was recognized in additional paid-in-capital as an adjustment to
the recapitalization. In addition, the settlement of an open audit with the taxing authorities resulted in a
reduction in tax contingency reserves of $5.1 million, $4.8 million was recorded as a reduction in goodwill
created by the purchase of the TTI entities and $0.3 million was a reduction of current income tax expense.
The remaining $3.9 million reduction was due to other settlements or expiration of statutes. Approximately
$1.7 million of these reductions impacted goodwill.

During 2005, valuation allowances related to state net operating loss carry forwards were reduced by
$0.8 million due to changes in management’s estimate of future earnings. During 2006, valuation
allowances related to state net operating loss carryforwards and credits changed by $1.5 million, primarily
as a result of a law change regarding state tax credits. The company removed the deferred tax asset for the
credits which had a full valuation reserve.

No provision has been made for U.S. income taxes related to undistributed earnings of our foreign
subsidiaries that we intend to permanently reinvest. At December 31, 2006, Accuride Canada had $5.0
million of cumulative retained earnings.

At December 31, 2006, AdM had no cumulative retained earnings. We previously treated
undistributed earnings as permanently reinvested. Accordingly, no provision for U.S. income taxes has
been made for such earnings.

Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Effective January 21, 1998, we adopted the 1998 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for key employees
of Accuride Corporation and subsidiaries (the “1998 Plan™}). The 1998 Plan pravides for the issuance of
shares of authorized but not issued or reacquired shares of Common Stock subject to adjustment to reflect
certain events such as stock dividends, stock splits, recapitalizations, mergers or reorganizations of or by
the Company. The 1998 Plan is intended to assist us in attracting and retaining employees of outstanding
ability and to promote the identification of their interests with those of our stockholders. The 1998 Plan
permits the issuance of Common Stock (the “1998 Plan-Purchase Stock™) and the grant of non-qualified
stock options (the “1998 Plan-Options™) to purchase shares of Common Stock (the issuance of 1998 Plan
Purchase Stock and the grant of the 1998 Plan Options pursuant to the 1998 Plan being a “1998 Plan
Grant”). Unless sooner terminated by our Board of Directors, the 1998 Plan will expire ten years after
adoption. Such termination will not affect the validity of any 1998 Plan Grant outstanding on the date of
the termination.

Pursuant to the original 1998 Plan, 1,576,197 shares of our Common Stock were reserved for issuance
under such plan. In May 2002, an amendment to the Stock Purchase and Option Plan was adopted, that
increased the number of shares reserved for issuance under the plan to 1,918,977. No further options wilt
be granted under our 1998 Stock Purchase and Option Plan for Employees of Accuride Corporation and
Subsidiaries, which we refer to as the 1998 Plan.

1998 Plan-Purchase Stock—As of December 31, 2004, no shares of Common Stock under the 1998
Plan Purchase Stock were outstanding. During 2005, 1,135 shares were repurchased as treasury stock.

2005 Incentive Plan—In connection with the initial public offering in April 2005, we adopted the
Accuride Corporation 2005 Incentive Award Plan, which we refer to as the Incentive Plan. The Incentive
Plan will terminate on the earlier of ten years after it was approved by our stockholders or when our Board
of Directors terminates the Incentive Plan. The Incentive Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock
options, or 1SOs, as defined in section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the
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Code, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, or
SARs, deferred stock, dividend equivalent rights, performance awards and stock payments, which we refer
to collectively as Awards, to our employees, consultants and directors. Up to 1,633,988 shares of our
common stock are reserved for issuance upon the grant or exercise of Awards under the Incentive Award
Plan. We issue new shares upon exercise of share-based awards.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan—During 2005, we adopted the Accuride Corporation Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, or ESPP, which is designed to allow our eligible employees and the eligible employees of
our participating subsidiaries to purchase shares of common stock, at quarterly intervals, with their
accumulated payroll deductions. Under the Accuride ESPP, we have reserved 653,595 shares as available
to issue to all of our eligible employees as determined by the Board of Directors. The ESPP has quarterly
offering periods, however payroll deductions for participants are accumulated during the quarterly offering
periods. During 2005, shares were purchased at a price per share that was equal to 85% of the fair market
value per share on the first day of the offering periods or, if lower, 85% of the fair market value per share
on the purchase dates. Effective January 1, 2006, the ESPP was revised so that shares will be purchased at
a price per share equal to 95% of the fair market value per share on the purchase dates. During 2006,
78,296 shares were purchased under the ESPP. Funds to purchase an additional 13,725 shares were
accumulated during the fourth quarter of 2006 and those shares were issued in early 2007.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, Under the modified
prospective method of adoption, compensation expense related to share-based awards is recognized
beginning in 2006, but compensation expense in 2005 and 2004 related to share-based awards continues to
be disclosed on a pro forma basis only. This statement applies to all awards granted after the effective date
and to modifications, repurchases, or cancellations of existing awards. Additionally, under the modified
prospective method of adoption, we recognize compensation expense for the portion of outstanding
awards on the adoption date for which the requisite service period has not yet been rendered based on the
grant-date fair value of those awards calculated under SFAS No. 123 and 148 for pro forma disclosures.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires that forfeitures be estimated over the vesting period of an award, rather than be
recognized as a reduction of compensation expense at the time of the actual forfeiture. Prior to January 1,
2006, we applied APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related
interpretations in accounting for the plans; accordingly, since the grant price of the stock options was at
least 10095 of the fair value at the date of the grant, no compensation expense was recognized by us in
connection with the option grants. Also, as the employee stock purchase plan was considered
noncompensatory, no expense related to this plan was recognized. Had compensation cost for the plans
been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates consistent with the fair value method of SFAS
No. 123, the effect on our net income would have been the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004

Netincome as reported. ... .ovve ittt iieiaaaaaees $51,229 $21,490
Add: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the

intrinsic value based method, net of related tax effects..................... — —
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under

the fair value based method, net of related tax effects ..................... (619) (85)
Pro forma NetiMCOIME « ...\ vv vttt ettt e e aie e canaens $50,610 $21,405
Earnings per share—as reported:

BaSIC . . oottt i $ 174 $ 147

Diluted. ... e e e e $ 170 $ 141
Earnings per share—pro forma:

BaSHC. e e e e $ 172 $ 146

DiHluted. . oo $ 168 $ 141
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The weighted average fair value of the options granted in 2004 was $2.41. The fair value of the 2004
option grants was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions: dividend yield equaling 0%, risk-free interest rates of 4.75%, expected volatilities
assumed to be 0% and expected lives of approximately 4 years. The weighted average fair value of options
granted in 2005 was $4.59. The fair value of the 2005 options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield equaling 0%, risk free interest rates ranging
from 4.41% to 4.62%, expected volatilities averaging 39.5%, and expected lives of 7 years. The total
intrinsic values of options exercised in 2005 and 2004 were $1.2 million and $0, respectively. The 2005 pro
forma adjustment also includes the impact of the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The pro forma amounts
are not representative of the effects on reported net income for future years.

Performance Options—We award performance options to officers and other key employees under the
2005 Plan. Under these awards, a number of shares will be granted to each participant based upon the
attainment of the applicable targets established under our incentive compensation plan approved by the
Compensation Committee. Certain outstanding performance options are applicable to performance
measurement periods in future fiscal years. Performance options generally vest over four years and have
10-year contractual terms. A summary of performance option activity under the 2005 Incentive Award Plan
during the vear ended December 31, 2006 is presented below:

Weighted
Number Weighted Average Aggrepate
of Average Remaining  Intrinsic
Options  Exercise Price Actual Term Yalue
Performance options outstanding at December 31, 2005 .. ... 417,778 $ 9.40
Granted . ... . — —
Exercised .. ... ... e (18,457 $ 9.00 $ 43
Forfeited .. ... .. i e (30,641} $10.35
Performance options outstanding at December 31,2006 . . ... 368,680 § 9.34 84 years $772
Performance options vested or expected tovest. ............ 295,000 % 9.34 84 years $618
Performance options exercisable at December 31, 2006. .. ... 166,354  § 9.00 8.4 vyears $376

Service Options - We grant options to officers, other key employees, and members of our Board of Directors
under the 2005 Plan as consideration for service. Options granted generally vest annually over a four year
period and have 10-year contractual terms. A summary of service option activity under the 2005 Incentive
Award Plan during the year ended December 31, 2006 is presented below:

Weighted

Number Weighted Average Aggregate
of Average Remaining  Intrinsic
Options  Exercise Price Actual Term _ Value
Service options outstanding at December 31,2005 ........ 1653505 § 551
Granted . ... . e 146,695  $11.32
Exercised . ... ... e (840,262) § 4.33 $5,965
Forfeited . ... ... e (31,846) § 9.42
Service options outstanding at December 31,2006 ........ 028,093 § 736 6.1 years  $3,749
Service options vested or expected tovest................ 742,500 § 7.36 6.1 years  $2,999
Service options exercisable at December 31, 2006......... 578995 § 6.27 6.4years $2,940
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Restricted Stock Units—We grant restricted stock units (RSU) to officers and other key employees under
the 2005 Plan as consideration for service. RSUs granted generally vest over a four year period. A
summary of RSU activity under the 2005 Incentive Award Plan during the year ended December 31, 2006
is presented below:

Weighted Weighted
Number Average Average
of Grant-date Remaining

Options Fair Value  Vesting Period
RSUs unvested at December 31,2005 .. .........coivirineean.nn — —

L 7111 7=, + SO A 175,138 $11.34
Y71« U (17,514)  $11.26
Forfeited ... ..o i i e e s — —
RSUs unvested at December 31,2006 ...........ooovinivvnnn.n 157,624 $11.26 2.2 years
RSUs expected IO VESt. ... v vver ot iiiiia e einaranes 126,100  $11.26 2.2 years

The awards granted during 2006 vest in installments of 10%, 20%, 30%, and 40% over a four-year-
period ending on December 31, 2009.

Stock Appreciation Rights—We grant stock appreciation rights (SAR) to officers, other key employees,
and members of our Board of Directors under the 2005 Plan as consideration for service. SARs granted
generally cliff vest at the end of a four-year period and have 10-year contractual terms. Our SARs are also
applicable to performance measurement periods in fiscal years with a performance-acceleration clause that
could allow for 25% vesting on December 31 of e¢ach of the four years if certain performance targets (that
are normally established at the beginning of each year) are met. A summary of SAR activity under the
2005 Incentive Award Plan during the year ended December 31, 2006 is presented below:

SARs exercisable at December 31,2006 ............ — — —

Weighted
Number Weighted Average Aggregate
of Average Remaining Intrinsic

Options Exercise Price Actual Term Yalue
SARs outstanding at December 31,2005............ — —
Granted .. ... e e 453,716 $11.34
Exercised . .. ..o e — $ —
Forfeited ........oovinii e — $ —
SARs outstanding at December 31, 2006. ........... 453,716 $11.34 10.0 years —
SARs vested or expectedtovest ................... 363,000 $11.34 10.0 years —

Included in the 2006 grants are 340,287 SARs that are applicable to performance measurement
periods in future fiscal years and will be measured at fair value when the performance targets are
established in future fiscal years. The remaining 113,429 SARs will vest on December 31, 2009, since
performance targets established for 2006 were not achieved. There is no intrinsic value on the SARs
outstanding due to the closing price on December 31, 2006 being lower than the strike price of the SARs.
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In determining the estimated fair value of our share-based awards as of the grant date, we used the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the assumptions illustrated for the year ended December 31,
2006, in the table below.

Stock

Stock Options Appreciation Rights
Expected Dividend Yield..................... 0.0% 0.0%
Expected Volatility in Stock Price ............. 43.6% 42.7%
Risk-Free Interest Rate . ..................... 5.0% 4.6%
Expected Life of Stock Awards. ............... 7.0 years 6.3 years
Weighted-Average Fair Value at Grant Date . .. $ 6.08 $ 5.56

The expected volatility is based upon volatility of comparable industry Company common stock that
has been traded for a period commensurate with the expected life. The expected term of options granted
during 2006 is derived from historical exercise and termination patterns, and represents the period of time
that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate used is based on the published U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for instruments with a similar life. The dividend yield is
based upon the most recently declared quarterly dividend and expected future dividends as of the grant
date.

Compensation expense recorded in the year ended December 31, 2006, was $1.5 million, net of tax.
Compensation expense not yet vested of approximately $5.9 million will be recognized over a weighted
period of 1.7 years. The tax benefit realized during 2006 was approximately $2.1 million.

Note 13—Commitments

We lease certain plant, office space, and equipment for varying periods. Management expects that in
the normal course of business, expiring leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases. Purchase
commitments related to fixed assets at December 31, 2006 totaled $16.6 million. Rent expense for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $6,759, $9,228 and $3,011, respectively. Future
minimum lease payments for all non-cancelable operating leases having a remaining term in excess of one
year at December 31, 2006, are as follows;

2007 . e e e e s $ 6,009
2008 . L . e 5,068
2009, e 4,074
20010, e e e e e, 2,968
2 3 15 S P 2,091
Thereafter . ..ot e ettt 4,228
Total .o e e e $24,438

Note 14—Segment Reporting

The Company consists of seven operating segments that design, manufacture, and distribute
components for trucks, trailers, and other vehicles. These operating segments are aggregated into a single
reportable segment as they have similar economic characteristics, products and production processes, class
of customer and distribution methods. We believe this segmentation is appropriate based upon
management’s operating decisions and performance assessment,
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Geographic Segments—Qur operations in the United States, Canada, and Mexico are summarized
below,

For Year Ended Dec. 31, 2006 g?;::g Canada Mexico Eliminations Combined
Net sales:
Sales to unaffiliated customers—domestic . $1,140,182 $15,973 $48,218 § —  $1,204,373
Sales to unaffiliated customers—export. . . . 192,785 — 10,997 — 203,782
Total. ... $1,332,967 $15973 §59,215 § —  $1,408,155
Long-livedassets ......................... $ 884,501 $82,611 $28,038 $(160,203) $ 834,947
United )
For Year Ended Dec. 31, 2005 States Canada Mexico Eliminations Combined
Net sales: '
Sales to unaffiliated customers—domestic . $1,000,549 $14,902 $41,811 § —  $1,057,262
Sales to unaffiliated customers—export. . . . 164,795 —_ 7,254 — 172,049
Total. .. e e s $1,165,344 $14,902 $49065 $ —  §1,229311
Long-livedassets ...........covvevuennn.. $ 909,759 $93,726 $30,796 $(166,184) $ 868,097
United )
For Year Ended Dec. 31, 2004 States Canada Mexico Eliminations  Combined
Net sales: '
Sales to unaffiliated customers—domestic ...  $393,221 §$ 18,189 $33,473 § —  $444.883
Sales to unaffiliated customers—export. . .... 45,837 — 3,288 — 49125
Total. ... $439,058 § 18,189 $36,761 § —  $494,008
Long-livedassets .......................... $346,273 $136,169 $31,540 $(166,184) $347,798

Each geographic segment made sales to each of the three major customers in 2006 that each exceed
10% of total net sales for the years ended December 31. Sales to those customers are as follows:

2006 2005 2004
% of % of % of
Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount Sal@s
Customerone .............ooun... $253.457 18.0% $213,001 17.3% § 93,808 19.Q%
Customertwo .....oovvvevnnnnnn. 250,460 17.8% 184,953 15.0% 79,687 16.1%
Customerthree................... 221,733 15.7% 143,500 11.7% 76,245  15.4%

$725,650 51.5% $541,454 44.0% $249830 50.5%

Sales by product grouping for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2006 2005 2004

% of Yo of % of

Amount Sales Amount Sales Amount Sales
Wheels $ 678,499 482% § 619,985 50.4% $494,008 100.0%
Wheel-end components and assemblies 290,662 20.6% 259,923 21.1% —_ —%
Truck body and chassis parts 197,902 14.1% 146,904 12.0% — —%
Seating assemblies 77,974 55% 70,842 5.8% — —%
Other components 163,118 11.6% 131,657 10.7% — —%

$1,408,155 100.0% $1,229,311  100.0% $494,008 100.0%
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Note 15—Financial Instruments

We have determined the estimated fair value amounts of financial instruments using available market
information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in
interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented
herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that we could realize in a current market exchange.
The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have an effect on the
estimated fair value amounts.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and accounts payable
approximate fair value because of the relatively short maturity of these instruments. The carrying amounts
and related estimated fair values for our remaining financial instruments are as follows:

2006 2005
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimaved
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Assets

Foreign Exchange Collar Options. . ................... $ — § — $§ 647 § 647
Interest Rate Swap Contracts ........................ $ 2468 § 2468 3% 2651 § 2,651
Liabilities

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts ................. $ 283 8§ 283 % — § —
Total Debt...... ... ... .. $642,725 $636,762 $697,725 $700,631

Fair values relating to derivative financial instruments reflect the estimated amounts that we would
receive or pay to terminate the contracts at the reporting date based on quoted market prices of
comparable contracts as of December 31. The fair value of our long-term debt has been determined on the
basis of the specific securities issued and outstanding. All of our long-term debt is at variable rates at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 except for the senior subordinated notes, which have a fixed interest rate of
8.50% (see Note 8).

Note 16—Related Transactions

In connection with the TTI merger, we entered into a management services agreement with KKR and
Trimaran Fund Management L.L.C,, or TFM, pursuant to which we retained KKR and TFM to provide
management, consulting and financial services to Accuride of the type customarily performed by
investment companies to our portfolio companies. In exchange for such services, we agreed to pay an
annual fee in the amount equal to $665,000 to KKR and $335,000 to TFM. In addition, we will reimburs=
KKR and TFM, and their respective affiliates, for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in
connection with such retention, including travel expenses and expenses of legal counsel. We may terminate
the management services agreement with respect to either KKR or TFM when one or both parties no
longer has the right to appoint one or more members to our Board of Directors pursuant to the terms of
the Shareholder Rights Agreement that we entered in connection with the TTI merger. Additionally, the
management services agreement will automatically terminate upon a change of control as provided in the
Shareholder Rights Agreement.
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Note 17—Quarterly Data (unaudited)

The following table sets forth certain quarterly income statement information of the Company for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Q1 Q2 (2)(;06 Q4 Total
{Dollars in thousands, except per share data) :
Netsales.....coviiriiiiniiniinininans $359,925 $361,733 $341,610 $344.887 $1,408,155
Grossprofit(2) ..o 56,014 53,120 41,903 45,860 196,897
Operating eXpenses . ......vvvvvrreinn.an 13,689 13,087 12,636 14,046 53,458
Income from operations . ................ 42,325 40,033 29,267 31,814 143,439
Equity earnings of affiliates . ............. 215 176 137 93 621
Otherexpense(3) ...............cocoinn (11,028)  (11,885) (14,451) (12,944) (50,308)
NetinCome .....covvviinrinnvnnnnrennns 20,035 18,343 12,435 14,320 65,133
Basic income pershare . ................. $ 059 $ 054 $ 036 $§ 041 § 1.90
Diluted income pershare................ $ 058 $ 053 % 036 $§ 041 $ 1.88
2005 (1)
Q1 Qz Q3 Qd Total
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Netsales.........ooveivniiiininnan, $272,616 $342,815 $316,136 $297,744 $1,229,311
Grossprofit. ...t 42 883 59,970 51,534 46,749 201,136
Operating eXpenses .................... 11,976 14,101 12,177 13,347 51,601
Income from operations . ............... 30,907 45,869 39,357 33,402 149,535
Equity earnings of affiliates ............. 179 207 (8) 77 455
Otherexpense(3) ... (32,039)  (17,526) (9,791  (11,196) (70.552)
Netincome ........cooviviiinnennnn, 188 17,019 19,140 14,882 51,229
Basic income pershare ................. $ 001 $ 056 $ 057 § 044 § 1.74
Diluted income pershare ............... $ 001 $§ 054 § 055 § 043 % 1.70

(1) Certain amounts in the 2005 results of operations have been reclassified to conform to the 2006
presentation. Included in these reclassifications are certain costs totaling $3.4 million, $4.8 million,
$4.9 million and $2.6 million for the four quarters of 2005 that have been reclassified from operating
expenses to cost of goods sold to conform to our accounting policies. These reclassifications do not
have any impact on net income and are immaterial to the 2005 results of operations.

(2) Impacting gross profit in 2006 were a $10.4 million increase in revenue from a resolution of a
commercial dispute with a customer in the fourth quarter, accelerated depreciation expense of certain
light wheel assets of $6.1 million and $10.2 million, in the third and fourth quarters, respectively,
losses of $1.4 million from a sale of property in Columbia, Tennessee, in the second quarter, an
impairment of tooling assets in our Piedmont, Alabama, facility of $2.3 million in the second quaiter,
and non-cash pension and other postretirement benefit curtailment charges of $2.5 million in the
fourth quarter.

(3) Included in other expense are interest income, interest expense, and other income (expense), net.
Included in 2005 are $20.0 million of expenses related to the refinancing (see Note 8). Those expenses
totaled $19.5 million in the first quarter and $0.5 million in the second quarter.
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Note 18—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The following table summarizes the changes in our valuation and qualifying accounts:

Balance at Charges (credits) Balance at
Beginning of  Additions due to to Cost and end of
Period Acquisition Expenses Recoveries Write-Offs Period
Reserves deducted in
Accounts Receivable:
December 31, 2004 . 822 — (18) — (289) 515
Pecember 31,
2005(1).......... 515 1,275 569 23 (505) 1,877
December 31,
2006(1).......... 1,877 104 1,084 4 (942) 2,127

(1} Additions due to TTI acquisition and AOT acquisition in 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Note 19—Contingencies

We are from time to time involved in various legal proceedings of a character normally incident to our
business. We do not believe that the cutcome of these proceedings will have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial condition or results of our operations.

As of December 31, 2006, we had an environmental reserve of approximately $2.6 million, related
primarily to TTI’s foundry operations. This reserve is based on current cost estimates and does not reduce
estimated expenditures to net present value, but does take into account the benefit of a contractual
indemnity given to us by a prior owner of our wheel-end subsidiary. The failure for the indemnitor to fulfill
its obligations could result in future costs that may be material. Any cash expenditures required by us or
our subsidiaries to comply with applicable environmental laws and/or to pay for any remediation efforts
will not be reduced or otherwise affected by the existence of the environmental reserve. We currently
anticipate spending approximately $0.2 million per year in 2007 through 2010 for menitoring the various
environmental sites associated with the environmental reserve, including attorney and consultant costs for
strategic planning and negotiations with regulators and other potentially responsible parties, and payment
of remedial investigation costs. Based on all of the information presently available to us, we believe that
our environmental reserves will be adequate to cover the future costs related to the sites associated with
the environmental reserves, and that any additional costs will not have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, the discovery of additional sites, the
modification of existing or promulgation of new laws or regulations, more vigorous enforcement by
regulators, the imposition of joint and several liability under CERCLA or analogous state laws, or other
unanticipated events could also result in such a material adverse effect.

The final Iron and Steel Foundry National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants, or
NESHAP, was developed pursuant to Section 112(d) of the Clean Air Act and requires all major sources
of hazardous air pollutants to install controls representative of maximum achievable control technology.
We are evaluating the applicability of the Iron and Steel Foundry NESHAP to our foundry operations, If
applicable, compliance with the Iron and Steel Foundry NESHAP may result in future significant capital
costs, which we currently expect to be approximately $6 million in total during the period 2007 through
2008.

Our operations are subject to federal, state, and local environmental laws, rules, and regulations.
Pursuant to the Recapitalization of the Company on January 21, 1998, we were indemnified by Phelps
Dodge Corporation with respect to certain environmental liabilities at our Henderson and London
facilities, subject to certain limitations. At the Erie, Pennsylvania, facility, we have obtained an
environmental insurance policy to provide coverage with respect to certain environmental liabilities.
Management does not believe that the outcome of any environmental proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
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During the fourth quarter of 2006, we were able to resolve a commercial dispute with Ford Motor
Company. As a result of the resolution, the gain contingency of $15.0 million recorded as a liability during
the third quarter of 2006 was eliminated, the company recognized $10.4 million of revenue in 2006, and
anticipates recognition of an additional $10.6 million of revenue in the first half of 2007. In addition, cash
flow increased by $10.0 million in 2006 and we anticipate an increase of $11.0 million in the second half of
2007. We anticipate that Ford will re-source its Accuride business to another supplier during 2007. In 2006,
total sales to Ford were less than 6% of total revenues. See Note 7 for a discussion of accelerated
depreciation associated with the light wheel assets as a result of the expected reduction in product sales to
Ford.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 4,622 employees, of which 1,018 were salaried
employees with the remainder paid hourly. Unions represent approximately 2,400 employees, or 52% of
the total. Union contracts expiring in 2007 represent approximately 1,600 employees, or 35% of the total.
The negotiations in Monterrey, representing approximately 5% of the total, were successfully completed
prior to the January 2007 expiration of our union contract. We do not anticipate that the outcome of the
remaining negotiations will have a material adverse effect on our operating performance or costs.

Note 20—Product Warranties

The Company provides product warranties in conjunction with certain product sales. Generally, sales
are accompanied by a 1- to 5-year standard warranty. These warranties cover factors such as non-
conformance to specifications and defects in material and workmanship.

Estimated standard warranty costs are recorded in the period in which the related product sales occur.
The warranty liability recorded at each balance sheet date in other current liabilities reflects the estimated
number of months of warranty coverage outstanding for products delivered times the average of historical
monthly warranty payments, as well as additional amounts for certain major warranty issues that excéed a
normal claims level. Warranty payments for the year ending December 31, 2004, were not material. The
following table summarizes product warranty activity recorded for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005:

2006 2005
Balance—beginning ofyear................. .o it $1,374 § 25
Additions due to TTI acquisition . .......................... — 891
Provision for new warranties. .. ......ccooiii i 1,203 2,207
Payments. .. ......ooer it i e e (601) (1,749)
Balance—end Of YEar . . .....ouiiiiin i $1,976 §$ 1,374

Note 21—Guarantor and Non-guarantor Financial Statements

Qur 8%% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2015 are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, on a joint
and several basis, by substantially all of our 100% owned domestic subsidiaries (“Guarantor Subsidiaries™).
The non-guarantor subsidiaries are our foreign subsidiaries. The following condensed financial
information illustrates the composition of the combined Guarantor Subsidiaries:
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2006

Guarantor Non-guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents ... ... $ 84,855 § (4,502) $ 29,851 — § 110,204
Accounts receivable, net...... .. 316,159 212,591 13,861 $(399,946) 142,665
Inventories and supplies........ 15,961 81,935 28,932 (1,051) 125,777
Other current assets............ 8,161 10,249 1,184 — 19,594
Total current assets ............ 425,136 300,273 73,828 {400,997) 398,240
’roperty, plant, and equipment,

1) S 30,725 186,136 83,945 — 300,806
Goodwill ..................... 66,973 314,499 8,041 — 389,513
Intangible assets, net........... 1,379 134,265 — — 135,644
Investment in subsidiaries and

affiliates. ................... 528,839 — — (528,489) 350
Deferred tax assets. . ........... 20,804 19,710 17,278 (57,792) —
Other non-current assets. . ...... 8,066 112 456 — 8,634
TOTAL .......... ..ol $1,081,922  $954,995 $183,548 $(987,278) $1,233,187
ILIABILITIES AND

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable ... ........... $ 9552 % 81,469 16,196 — 107,217
Accrued payrolt and

compensation . .............. 8,852 15,120 4,458 — 28,430
Accrued interest payable. ....... 4,706 22 6,678 — 11,406
Accrued and other liabilities . . .. 139,562 264,455 35,775 (399,946) 39,846
Total current liabilities . ........ 162,672 361,066 63,107 (399,946) 186,899
Longtermdebt................ 639,625 3,100 — — 642,725
LCreferred income taxes ......... 290 76,342 21,105 (57,792) 39,045
Cther non-current liabilities. . . .. 15,753 71,552 12,731 — 100,036
Siockholders’ equity. ........... 263,582 442935 86,605 $(529,540) 263,582
TOTAL ...................... $1,081,922  $954,995 $183,548 $(987,278) $1,233,187
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents ......
Accounts receivable, net........
Inventories and supplies ........
Other current assets. ...........
Total current assets ............
Property, plant, and equipment,

Goodwill .....................
Intangible assets,net...........
Investment in subsidiaries and
affiliates..............0vuuts
Deferred tax assets. ............

LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Accounts payable..............
Accrued payroll and
compensation . ..............
Accrued interest payable........
Accrued and other liabilities .. ..
Total current liabilities .........
Longtermdebt................
Deferred income taxes .........
Other non-current liabilities. . . ..
Stockholders’ equity............
TOTAL ...t

December 31, 2005

Guarantor

Non-guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
$ 11,195 § 1,241 $ 35,979 — § 48415
424,764 178,971 16,555 $(478,369) 141,921
21,548 83,614 34,030 (2,870) 136,322
7,083 17,840 676 — 25,599
464,590 281,666 87,240 (481,239) 352,257
32,028 182,893 103,051 317,972
66,973 320,972 8,041 395,986
2,172 138,782 — 140,954
410,796 — 13,189 (420,777) 3,208
50,707 24,359 16,435 (91,501) —
9,618 118 241 9,977
$1,036,884  $948,790 $228,197 $(993,517) $1,220,354
$ 11,041 $ 75,445 $ 28,504 — 114,990
11,143 14,234 1,715 — 27,092
11,328 19 38 — 11,385
100,117 347,596 74,775 {478,369) 44,119
133,629 437,294 105,032 {478,369) 197,586
689,625 3,100 5,000 — 697,725
21,093 85,064 25,144 {91,501) 39,800
16,794 79,807 12,899 — 109,500
175,743 343,525 80,122 (423,647) 175,743
$1,036,884  $948,790 $228,197 $(993,517) $1,220,354

63




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Yezar ended December 31, 2006

Netsales..............ovuo. ..
Costof goodssold ..............
Grossprofit....................
Operating expenses . ............
Income from operations . ........
Other income (expense):
Interest (expense), net.........
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
and affiliates . ..............
Other income (expense), net . . .
Income before income taxes. ... ..
Income tax provision............
Net income (loss)...............

Netsales.............ooviviinnn.
Costofgoodssold ...............
Grossprofit.....................
Operating expenses ..............
Income from operations . .........
Other income (expense):
Interest (expense), net..........
Loss on extingunishment of debt . .
Refinancingcosts.,............
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
and affiliates. ...............
Other income (expense), net .. ..
Income before income taxes. ......
Income tax provision.............
Netincome .....................

Netsales........................
Costof goodssold ...............
Grossprofit.....................
Operating expenses .. ............
Income from operations ..........
Other income (expense):
Interest (expense),net. .........
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
and affiliates. ...............
Other income (expense), net . . ..
Income before income taxes. ......
Income tax provision............,
Netincome .....................

Guarantor Non-guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
$461,983 $914,586  $361,219  $(329,633) $1,408,155
406,263 807,654 326,974 {329,633) 1,211,258
55,720 106,932 34,245 — 196,897
41,785 10,929 744 — 53,458
13,935 96,003 33,501 —_ 143,434
(46,143) (101) (4,666) — (50,910)
118,104 — —_ (117,483) 621
1,156 546 (1,100) — 602
87,052 96,448 27,735 (117,483) 93,752
21,919 — 6,700 — 28,619
$ 65133 §$ 96448  § 21,035  $(117483) § 65,133
Year ended December 31, 2005
Guarantor Non-guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
$426,820  $776,062 $313,574 $(287,145)  $1,229311
351,223 678,966 285,131 (287,145) 1,028,175
75,597 97,096 28,443 — 201,136
36,243 14,500 858 — 51,601
39,354 82,596 27,585 —_ 149,535
(46,866) 31 (4,295) - (51,130)
(4,474) — — — (4,474)
(15,513) — — — (15,513)
99,155 — — (98,700) 455
926 _ (361) — 565
72,582 82,627 22,929 (98,700) 79,438
21,353 — 6,856 — 28,209
$ 51,229 § 82627 $ 16,073 $ (98,700) $ 51,229
Year ended December 31, 2004
Guarantor Non-guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
$299,880  $144,140 $240,165 $(190,177)  § 494,008
243,165 113,346 225,017 (190,177) 391,351
56,715 30,794 15,148 — 102,657
24,257 489 804 — 25,550
32,458 30,305 14,344 — 77,107
(33,468) — (3,377) — (36,845)
35,484 — — (34,838) 646
463 — (355) — 108
34,937 30,305 10,612 {34,338) 41,016
13,447 —_ 6,079 — 19,526
$ 21,490 § 30,305 $ 4533 $ (34838) § 21,490
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Netincome ...........covenn
Adjustments to reconcile net

income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and impairment . .
Amortization—deferred
financingcosts..............
Amortization—other intangible
assefS. ...
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets
Deferred income taxes. ........
Equity in earnings of affiliates . .
Non-cash stock-based
compensation ..............
Change in other operating items

Net cash provided by operating

activities .. ...t

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant, and

equipment .................
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant, and equipment........
Other investments, net of cash
acquired ... ns
Cash distribution from
investment—Trimont. .......
Net cash used by investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net payments on long-term and

revolvingdebt ..............
Proceeds from employee stock
option and stock purchase
plans ... e
Tax benefit from employee stock
option exercises. ............
Other ..........coovvviian.

Net cash used by financing
activities ...,

Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents. ..............

Cash and cash equivalents,
beginning of year..............

Cash and cash equivalents, end of

Year ended December 31, 2006

Parent Guarantor Neon-guarantor

Company Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
$ 65133 § 96,448 $ 21,035 $(117,483) § 65,133
6,105 28,415 26,977 — 61,497
1,207 — 159 — 1,366
793 4,739 — — 5,532
1,459 134 (42) — 1,551
14,641 — (4,969) — 9,672
(118,104) — — 117,483 (621)
1,500 — — —_— 1,500
147,780  (106,944) (35,453) — 5,383
120,514 22,792 7,707 — 151,013
(4,275)  (29,079) (8,835) —  (42,189)
1,888 — — — 1,888
(1,038) — — — (1,038)
— 544 —_ — 544
(3,425) (28,535) (8,835) — (40,795)
(50,000) — (5,000) — (55,000
4,535 — — — 4,535
2,139 — — — 2,139
(103) — — - (103)
(43,429) — (5,000) — (48,429)
73,660 (5,743) (6,128) - 61,789
11,195 1,241 35,979 — 48415
$ 84,855 $ (4502) $29851 § —  $110204
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES:
Netineome ......cvvrereninenan.n.

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and impairment., . . ...

Amortization—deferred financing costs ... .. ..
Amortization—other intangible assets.........

Loss on extinguishment of debt. . . ..
Loss {gain) on disposal of assets. . .,
Deferred income taxes............
Equity in earnings of affiliates. .. ...
Cash distribution {from affiliate. .. ..
Change in other operating items. . . .

Net cash provided by operating activities. . .. ... ..

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property, plant, and equipment . ..

Acquisition costs—TTIL . ..........

Cash distribution from investment—Trimont . . .

Net cash used by investing activities . . .

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Payments on long-termdebt ... .. ..

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt. . . ...
Procecds from issuance of shares, net .........

Deferred financing fees . ..........

Payment of premium on notes extinguished . . . .
Proceeds from employee stock option and stock

purchase plans. . ...............
Net cash used by financing activities. .

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents , .
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ... ..

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Year ended December 31, 2005

Parent Guarantor Non-guarantor

Company Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries  Eliminations Total
$ 51,229 § 82,627 $ 16,073 5(98,700) § 51,229
5824 22,458 12,076 — 40,358
2,482 — 755 — 3,237
41 5,153 — — 5,194
4,474 — — — 4,474
276 — 191) — 85
17.834 5,857 (2,361) — 21,330
(99,155) — — 98,700 (455)
1,000 — — — 1,000
43,486  (86,103) 8,080 — (34,537)
27,491 29,992 34,432 — 91,915
(4,446) (29,220 (6,292) — (39,958)
(8,327) — — — (8,327)
_ 679 — — 679
(12,773) _(28,541) (6,292) — (47,606)
(951,731) — (20,000) — (971,371
825,000 — — — 825,000
89,605 — — — 89,605
(10,006) — — (10,006)
(2,928) — — — (2,928)
2,323 — o — 2,323
(47,737) — (20,000} — (67,737)
(33,019) 1,451 8,140 — (23,428)
44,214 210) 27.839 — 71,843
$ 11,195 § 1,241 $ 35,979 $ — § 48415
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Year ended December 31, 2004
Parent Guarantor Non-guarantor
Company  Subsidiaries _ Subsidiaries  Eliminations Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES:
NEtiNCOME .« .\t ee et e it ennerans $ 21,490  § 30,305 $ 4533 $(34,838) § 21,490
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and impairment................. 6,269 8,428 13,741 — 28,438

Amortization—deferred financing costs .. ...... 1,519 —_ 276 — 1,795

Loss {gain) on disposal of assets. .............. (384) 1 89 — (284)

Deferred income taxes. . . .....cvuviieiannan. 5,470 (34) 4,605 — 10,041

Equity in earnings of affiliates. ................ (35,484) — — 34,838 {646)

Change in other operatingitems............... 22,119 (22,786) (1,838) — (2,505)
Net cash provided by operating activities.......... 20,999 15,924 21,406 — 58,329
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property, plant, and equipment . ... (2,992) (14,550) (8,879) — (26,421}

Capitalized interest ................... . c.v. — — {851) -— (851)
Net cash used by investing activities. ............. (2,992) (14,550) (9,730} - (27,272)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES:

Payments on long-termdebt . ............. ..., (1,900) — — — (1,900)

Other.....oooviiiii i s (6 — — — (6)
Net cash used by financing activities. . ............ (1,906) — — -— (1,906)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents. . ........... 16,101 1,374 11,676 — 29,151
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ... ... 28,113 (1,584) 16,163 — 42,692
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ........... $44214 3§ (210 $27,839 $ — § 71,843
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CERTIFICATION

I, Terrence J. Keating, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Accuride Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e))
for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) [Omitted in reliance on SEC Release No. 33-8238, 34-47986, Section I1LE.};

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2007 s/ TERRENCE J. KEATING

Terrence J. Keating
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION
I, David K. Armstrong, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Accuride Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covefcd by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢))
for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) [Omitted in reliance on SEC Release No. 33-8238, 34-47986, Section ITLE.);

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2007 /s/ DAVID K. ARMSTRONG
David K. Armstrong
Chief Financial Officer & General Counsel
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Section 906 Certification

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the
undersigned officer of Accuride Corporation (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

(i} The accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended
December 31, 2006 (the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ TERRENCE J. KEATING Dated: March 9, 2007

Terrence J. Keating
Chairman and Chief Executive QOfficer
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Section 906 Certification

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the
undersigned officer of Accuride Corporation (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

(iii) The accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended
December 31, 2006 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ DAVID K. ARMSTRONG Dated: March 9, 2007

David K. Armstrong
Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel
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Stock Exchange Listing

Accuride’s common stock is listed on
the New York Stock Exchange and
trades under the ticker symbol ACW.

Accuride filed its initial Section
303 A Annual Written Affirmation,
without qualification, with the NYSE
within 30 days from the one-year
anniversary of its listing date as
required by NYSE rules.
Independent Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Suite 2000

Bank One Center / Tower
111 Monument Circle
Indianapolis, IN 46204

Transfer Agent and Registrar

American Stock Transfer & Trust Co.
59 Maiden Lane
New York, NY 10038

Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Form 10-K & Quarterly Reports

Stockholders may obtain free of
charge a copy of Accuride’s annual
report on Form 10-K, its quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q as filed with
the Securities and Exchange
Commission and quarterly press
releases by contacting:

Accuride Corporation

Attn: Investor Relations

P.O. Box 15600

Evansville, Indiana 47715
investor@accuridecorp.com

(812) 962-5000

Additionally, an electronic version is
available on Accuride's website:
www.accuridecorp.com.

Internet Address

The annual meeting of shareholders
of Accuride Corporation will be held
on June 14, 2007, at 10:00 a.m. at the
Evansville Airport Marriott, 7101
Highway 41 North, Evansville, IN
47725.

- Board of Directors Committee Composition

Additional information about
Accuride Corporation may be
obtained by visiting Accuride’s
website: www.accuridecorp.com.

Chairperson Nominating & Corp.
Compensation Governance
i Member Audit Committee Committee Committee
. ° °
Frederick M. Goliz [ | [
® ®
James H. Greene, Jr.
°
Donald T. Johnson, Jr. [ |
[ ]
Charles E. Mitchell Rentschler W -
®
Donald C. Roof i
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